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IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 

FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 
DALLAS DIVISION 

 
In re: 
 
ROCKIES REGION 2006 LIMITED 
PARTNERSHIP and ROCKIES REGION 
2007 LIMITED PARTNERSHIP,1 
 
  Debtors. 
 

§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 

Chapter 11 
 
Case No. 18-33513-sgj-11 
 
(Jointly Administered) 

DEBTORS’ MOTION (i) TO QUASH SUBPOENA TO JASON S. BROOKNER  
TO TESTIFY AT A DEPOSITION IN A BANKRUPTCY CASE  

AND (ii) FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER 

 Rockies Region 2006 Limited Partnership and Rockies Region 2007 Limited Partnership, 

the above-captioned debtors and debtors in possession (collectively, the “Debtors”), for their 

                                                           
1 The Debtors in these chapter 11 cases, along with the last four digits of each Debtor’s federal tax identification 
number are: Rockies Region 2006 Limited Partnership (9573) and Rockies Region 2007 Limited Partnership (8835). 
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Motion (i) to Quash Subpoena to Jason S. Brookner to Testify at a Deposition in a Bankruptcy 

Case and (ii) for Protective Order (the “Motion”), respectfully represent: 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

1. On May 22, 2019, the LP Plaintiffs2 served a subpoena (the “Subpoena”) on Jason 

S. Brookner, counsel to the Debtors, seeking to depose him in connection with their Amended 

Motion for Dismissal of Chapter 11 Case [Docket No. 140] (the “Motion to Dismiss”) and the 

Debtors’ Application for Order (i) Authorizing the Retention of Harney Management Partners to 

Provide Responsible Party and Additional Personnel, (ii) Designating Karen Nicolaou as 

Responsible Party Effective as of the Petition Date, and (iii) Granting Related Relief [Docket 

No. 12] (the “Harney Application” and together with the Motion to Dismiss, the “Pending 

Matters”).  A true and correct copy of the Subpoena is attached hereto as Exhibit A.   

2. It is the Debtors’ belief that the LP Plaintiffs intend to depose Mr. Brookner 

regarding (i) the legal analyses performed by Mr. Brookner and Gray Reed with respect to 

various issues in these chapter 11 cases, including, but not limited to, the strengths and 

weaknesses of the claims asserted in the Colorado Action, and (ii) communications between Mr. 

Brookner and/or Gray Reed and Ms. Nicolaou while Gray Reed was engaged as counsel for the 

Debtors.   

3. In other words, the LP Plaintiffs seek to depose Mr. Brookner regarding attorney-

client communications and core work product connected with these proceedings, the latter of 

which is entitled to the most stringent levels of evidentiary protection.  The LP Plaintiffs contend 

they are nevertheless entitled to depose Mr. Brookner on these matters because Ms. Nicolaou 
                                                           
2 The LP Plaintiffs are (i) Robert R. Dufresne, as Trustee of the Dufresne Family Trust; (ii) Michael A. Gaffey, as 
Trustee of the Michael A. Gaffey and JoAnne M. Gaffey Living Trust dated March 2000; (iii) Ronald Glickman, as 
Trustee of the Glickman Family Trust established August 29,1994; (iv) Jeffrey R. Schulein, as Trustee of the 
Schulein Family Trust established March 29, 1989; and (v) William J. McDonald as Trustee of the William J. 
McDonald and Judith A. McDonald Living Trust dated April 16, 1991. 
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testified at the Debtors’ 341 meeting of creditors that she “consulted with counsel” or “relied on 

advice of counsel” in connection with performing her role as fiduciary to these Debtors.  This 

argument is based on a misconstruction of Ms. Nicolaou’s testimony at the 341 meeting, which 

she clarified at length during her subsequent deposition relating to the Pending Matters.  In any 

event, Mr. Brookner does not have knowledge of any non-privileged facts relevant to the issues 

raised in the Pending Matters.  In addition, the LP Plaintiffs have not met the stringent 

requirements necessary to justify taking the deposition of opposing litigation counsel.   

4. The LP Plaintiffs’ efforts to depose Mr. Brookner are nothing more than a 

harassing fishing expedition prohibited by the Federal Rules of Evidence and the Federal Rules 

of Civil Procedure.  The Court should quash the Subpoena as outside the scope of permissible 

discovery and grant the requested protection.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

5. The Court has jurisdiction over this Motion pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 157 and 

1334.  Consideration of this Motion is a core proceeding under 28 U.S.C. § 157(b)(2). 

6. Venue in this Court is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1408 and 1409. 

BACKGROUND 

7. On October 30, 2018 (the “Petition Date”), each of the Debtors filed with this 

Court a voluntary petition for relief under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code.   

8. The Debtors are continuing to operate their businesses and manage their 

properties as debtors in possession pursuant to sections 1107(a) and 1108 of the Bankruptcy 

Code.  No trustee, examiner, or official committee has been appointed. 

9. The Debtors are West Virginia limited partnerships that own undivided working 

interests in oil and natural gas wells.  PDC Energy, Inc. (f/k/a Petroleum Development Corp.) 
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(“PDC”) is the managing general partner of each of the Debtors and owns approximately 39% of 

the Debtors’ equity interests.  In the aggregate, the Debtors have over 3,700 limited partnership 

unit holders (the “Investor Partners”).  Additional background information may be found in the 

Declaration of Karen Nicolaou in Support of Chapter 11 Petitions [Docket No. 10] (the 

“Nicolaou Declaration”). 

10. Prior to the Petition Date, the Debtors engaged Gray Reed & McGraw LLP 

(“Gray Reed”) as counsel in connection with a potential restructuring.  Mr. Brookner is a partner 

at Gray Reed and has at all times served as lead counsel in this engagement.  

11. On December 20, 2018, the Court authorized the Debtors to retain Gray Reed as 

counsel.  See Docket No. 106. 

RELIEF REQUESTED 

12. By this Motion, the Debtors object to the Subpoena and respectfully request entry 

of an order quashing same and precluding the LP Plaintiffs from deposing Mr. Brookner in these 

chapter 11 cases. 

ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES 

I. Federal Rules Governing Subpoenas & Standing to Challenge 

13. Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 45, made applicable to this proceeding by virtue 

of Federal Rule of Bankruptcy Procedure 9016, governs subpoenas to obtain discovery from 

non-parties.  See FED. R. BANKR. P. 9016.  Under Rule 45(d), “the court for the district where 

compliance is required must quash or modify a subpoena” that “requires disclosure of privileged 

or other protected matter, if no exception or waiver applies, or subjects a person to undue 

burden.”  FED. R. CIV. P. 45(d)(3)(A)(iii)–(iv).  A party has standing to challenge a subpoena 

issued to a non-party if the party either has “‘possession of the materials subpoenaed’ or a 

Case 18-33513-sgj11 Doc 172 Filed 05/24/19    Entered 05/24/19 16:40:24    Page 4 of 111



DEBTORS’ MOTION TO QUASH BROOKNER SUBPOENA AND MOTION FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER– Page 5  
4847-2424-7192, v. 2 

‘personal right or privilege with respect to the material subpoenaed.’”  Jez v. Dow Chem. Co., 

402 F. Supp. 2d 783, 784–85 (S.D. Tex. 2005) (quoting Brown v. Braddick, 595 F.2d 961, 967 

(5th Cir. 1979)).  Evidentiary privileges that may be asserted by the Debtors are sufficient for 

standing.  See id. 

14. In addition, “a party has standing to move for a protective order pursuant to Rule 

26(c) seeking to limit the scope of discovery, even if the party does not have standing pursuant to 

Rule 45(d) to quash a third-party subpoena.”  Bounds v. Capital Area Family Violence 

Intervention Ctr., Inc., 314 F.R.D. 214, 218 (M.D. La. 2016) (collecting cases); Viener v. 

Casano, No. 1:16-cv-18-HSO-MTP, 2016 WL 10675905, at *1 (S.D. Miss. June 10, 2016) 

(holding that “the procedurally proper avenue for a party to oppose a subpoena served on a third 

party is via a motion for protective order”); see also FED. R. BANKR. P. 9014(c) (stating that Rule 

26, as incorporated by Federal Rule of Bankruptcy Procedure 7026, generally applies in 

contested matters).  Under Rule 26(c), to curb discovery abuse and protect a party “from 

annoyance, embarrassment, oppression, or undue burden or expense,” the court may enter a 

protective order “forbidding the disclosure or discovery,” “forbidding inquiry into certain 

matters, or limiting the scope of disclosure or discovery to certain matters.”  FED. R. CIV. P. 

26(c)(1)(A), (D). 

II. Fifth Circuit Standards for Deposition of Opposing Counsel: Shelton Inquiry 

15. Mr. Brookner is Debtors’ lead counsel.  The LP Plaintiffs seek to depose him 

regarding the legal advice he provided to the Debtors’ Responsible Party, Ms. Nicolaou.  It is 

unsurprising that in the Fifth Circuit, a request to depose “opposing counsel [is] disfavored 

generally” because such practice “disrupts the adversarial system,” “lowers the standards of the 

profession,” and “adds to the already burdensome time and costs of litigation.”  Nguyen v. Excel 
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Corp., 197 F.3d 200, 209 n.26 (5th Cir. 1999)) (internal citations omitted); see also Theriot v. 

Parrish of Jefferson, 185 F.3d 477, 491 (5th Cir. 1999).3  The mere request to depose opposing 

counsel generally constitutes good cause to issue a protective order unless the party seeking the 

discovery demonstrates the propriety and need for the deposition.  McKinney/Pearl Rest. 

Partners, L.P. v. Metropo. Life Ins. Co., No. 3:14-cv-2498-B, 2016 WL 3033544, at *5 (N.D. 

Tex. May 26, 2016); Goodman v. Modular Techs., Inc., Civil Action No. H-14-1380, 2015 WL 

5309601, at *1 (S.D. Tex. Sept. 3, 2015), adopted in part, 2015 WL 5310144 (S.D. Tex. Sept. 

10, 2015); E.E.O.C. v. Pointe at Kirby Gate, LLC, 290 F.R.D. 89, 91 (W.D. Tenn. 2003); N.F.A. 

Corp. v. Riverview Narrow Fabrics, Inc., 117 F.R.D. 83, 85 (M.D.N.C. 1987).4  

                                                           
3 To be clear, this disfavor is not limited to the Fifth Circuit—taking the deposition of opposing counsel is 
universally disfavored.  See, e.g., Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co. v. Home Ins. Co., 278 F.3d 621, 628 (6th Cir. 2002); 
Boughton v. Cotter Corp., 65 F.3d 823, 831 (10th Cir. 1995); United States v. Yonkers Board of Education, 946 F.2d 
180, 185 (2d Cir.1991); Shelton v. American Motors Corp.,805 F.2d 1323, 1327 (8th Cir. 1986); Bales v. Quest USA 
Corp., No. 1:18-mc-00222-RM, 2019 WL 1454696, at *1 (D. Colo. Apr. 2, 2019); Radiologix, Inc. v. Radiologoy 
and Nuclear Medicine, LLC, No. 15-4927-DDC, 2018 SL 4851609, at *5 (D. Kan. Oct. 5, 2018); SEC v. Zufelt, No. 
2:10-cv-00574-DB-DBP, 2015 WL 7281608, at *1 (D. Utah Nov. 17, 2017); Bell v. Taylor, No. 1:14-cv-00785-
TWP-DKL, 2016 WL 1170822, at *2 (S.D. Ind. Mar. 25, 2106); Ryan Data Exchange, Ltd. v. Graco Inc., No. 4:14-
cv-198-JEG-RAW, 2015 WL 13545195, at *2 (S.D. Iowa 2015); Bank of America, N.A. v. Georgia Farm Bureau 
Mut. Ins. Co., No. 3:12-CV-155, 2015 WL 4851853, at *2 (M.D. Ga. Sept. 29, 2014); Bingham v. Supervalu, Inc., 
No. 13-11690, 2014 WL 12792917, at *6 (D. Mass. May 28, 2014); Ohio Ass’n of Elementary School Adm’rs v. 
Educational Impact, Inc., No. 2:11-cv-68, 2012 WL 3731487, at *1 (S.D. Ohio 2012); Rubis v. Hartford Fire Ins. 
Co., No. 3:11CV796, 2012 WL 996530, at *1 (D. Conn. Mar. 23, 2012); Sterne Kessler Goldstein & Fox, PLLC v. 
Eastman Kodak Co., 276 F.R.D. 376, 380 (D.D.C. 2011); FTC v. First Universal Lending, LLC, No. 09-82322-CIV-
ZLOCH, 2010 WL 11504276, at *1 (S.D. Fla. Sep. 21, 2010); Brooks v. Int’l Paper Co., No. 2:09-cv-946-WHA, 
2011 WL 13217996, at *1 (M.D. Al. July 25, 2011); Will ex rel Dynamcis Corp. Sav. & Stock Inv. Plan v. General 
Dynamics Corp., No. 06-698-GPM, 2007 WL 3145058, at *3 (S.D. Ill. Oct. 25, 2007); In re Fotso, No.  05-
29842PM, 2006 WL 4482001, at *1-2 (Bankr. D. Md. Nov. 22, 2006); In re Plastics Additives Antitrust Litigation, 
No. 03-2038, 2005 WL 8149514, at *3 (E.D. Penn. Aug. 9, 2005); Madanes v. Madanes, 199 F.R.D. 135, 151 
(S.D.N.Y. 2001); In re Wiggins, No. 99—40458; 99—06212, 2000 WL 33712300, at *2 (Bankr. D. Idaho Apr. 10, 
2000); Central Vermont Public Service Corp. v. Adriatic Ins. Co., 185 F.R.D. 179, 179 (D. Ver. 1998); Buford v. 
Holladay 133 F.R.D. 487, 491 (S.D. Miss. 1990); Grenig and Kinsler, HANDBOOK OF FED. CIV. DIS. & DISCLOSURE 
§ 1.156 (2d ed. 2005) (“Litigation counsel are presumptively entitled to a protective order against being deposed by 
an adversary”); Wright–Miller–Marcus, FEDERAL PRACTICE AND PROCEDURES § 2102 (1994) (all stating deposition 
of opposing counsel is disfavored). 
4 Debtors note that federal common law determines issues of evidentiary privilege in bankruptcy matters.  See, e.g., 
In re Royce Homes, LP, 449 B.R. 709, 722 (Bankr. S.D. Tex. 2011) (“Courts in this circuit interpret Rule 501 to 
mean that questions of attorney-client privilege that arise in a federal proceeding are generally controlled by the 
federal common law of privilege”).   
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16. “In the Fifth Circuit, the Shelton inquiry guides courts in authorizing the 

deposition of opposing counsel.”  Cooper v. Harvey, No. 3:14-CV-4152-B, 2015 WL 11120999, 

*1 (N.D. Tex. Nov. 3, 2015).  The Shelton inquiry comes from the Eighth Circuit’s decision in 

Shelton v. Am. Motors Corp., 805 F.2d 1323 (8th Cir. 1986), which delineated three factors that a 

party seeking to depose opposing counsel must establish before a court may authorize such a 

deposition.  See, e.g., Nguyen, 197 F.3d at 209; Securus Tech., Inc. v. Global Tel*Link Corp., 

331 F. Supp. 3d 633, 637 (N.D. Tex. 2017); Murphy v. Adelphia Recovery Tr., No. 3:09-mc-105-

B, 2009 WL 4755368, at *2 (N.D. Tex. Nov. 3, 2009) (“While the Fifth Circuit has not explicitly 

adopted Shelton, it has indicated that the same three factors inform a district court’s discretion in 

determining whether to authorize the deposition of opposing counsel”). 

17. The three Shelton factors place the burden on the party seeking the deposition to 

establish: (i) no other means exists to obtain the information; (ii) the information sought is 

relevant and non-privileged; and (iii) the information is crucial to the preparation of the case.  

Shelton, 805 F.2d at 1327; see also Securus, 331 F. Supp. 3d at 637.  Only under these narrow, 

limited circumstances should opposing counsel’s deposition be authorized by the Court.  Shelton, 

805 F.2d at 1327.   

III.  The LP Plaintiffs Have Not, and Cannot, Establish the Shelton Factors 

18. The LP Plaintiffs cannot establish any of the Shelton factors.  Mr. Brookner does 

not have knowledge of any non-privileged facts that are relevant to the issues raised in the 

Pending Matters; rather, his only knowledge relevant to these chapter 11 cases stems directly 

from his representation of the Debtors.  This is exactly why taking his deposition is “highly 

disfavored.”  Securus, 331 F. Supp. 3d at 637.  It is also why, Mr. Brookner, as opposing 

litigation counsel, is presumptively entitled to a protective order in this situation.  See Grenig and 
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Kinsler, HANDBOOK OF FED. CIV. DIS. & DISCLOSURE § 1.156 (2d ed. 2005) (“Litigation counsel 

are presumptively entitled to a protective order against being deposed by an adversary”).  The 

Court should quash the Subpoena and issue a protective order because the LP Plaintiffs cannot 

show that (i) no other means exist to obtain the sought-after information; (ii) the information 

sought is relevant and non-privileged; and (iii) the information is crucial to the preparation of the 

case.  Nguyen, 197 F.3d at 209 (citing Shelton, 805 F.2d at 1327). 

A. The LP Plaintiffs have other, less-intrusive means to obtain information 
regarding Ms. Nicolaou’s pre-petition investigation and analysis.  

19. The LP Plaintiffs fail the first Shelton factor, as they have not demonstrated that 

deposing Mr. Brookner is the only method of obtaining the information that they seek.  To 

satisfy the first element of the Shelton test, the party requesting the deposition “must identify the 

specific unsuccessful measures it has taken to obtain the information, why they have failed, and 

that other resources are unavailable.”  Cont’l Coal, Inc. v. Cunningham, No. 06-2122-KHV, 

2008 WL 145245, at *3 (D. Kan. Jan. 14, 2008) (quoting Mike v. Dymon, Inc., 169 F.R.D. 376, 

379 (D. Kan. 1996)).  All alternative sources of the information must be explored before 

deposing opposing counsel.  Id.  And alternative methods, “such as written interrogatories, 

requests for production, or requests for admission, which do not involve the same danger as an 

oral deposition of opposing counsel, should be employed.”  Id. 

20. The LP Plaintiffs have not even tried to satisfy this factor.  First, the Subpoena 

fails to describe, with any degree of specificity, the information that the LP Plaintiffs seek to 

obtain by deposing Mr. Brookner.  In fact, it simply requires him to appear and be deposed.  

Thus, rather than seeking to exhaust other methods of obtaining the information at issue, the LP 

Plaintiffs have chosen to serve a deposition subpoena on opposing counsel with no defined 

scope.  
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21. Further, any non-privileged information that the LP Plaintiffs might be seeking 

can be—and, in many instances, has been—obtained from sources other than Mr. Brookner.  The 

LP Plaintiffs deposed Ms. Nicolaou on May 7, 2019, and she was questioned regarding her pre-

petition investigation and analysis at great length.  Her hours-long deposition runs for 230 pages 

and contains extensive discussion of both her post-litigation activities and her pre-litigation 

investigation, analysis, efforts, and process as responsible party for the Debtors.  See, e.g. 

Nicolaou Dep. 11:9-17:25; 25:6-34:17; 44:7-25; 49:8-51:25; 63:13-67:5; 69:6-20; 71:8-72:25; 

80:17-81:22; 117:2-119:19; 128:6-130:10; 142:3-144:15; 146:25-149:25; 152:18-155:24; 173:4-

176:15; 181:22-183:22; 186:7-191:11; 193:2-198:25; 200:2-14; 205:16-208:7.5  The only 

questions Ms. Nicolaou did not answer were those that directly called for her to waive attorney-

client privilege.  Ms. Nicolaou was forced to repeatedly tell counsel for the LP Plaintiffs that she 

did not agree to waive the attorney-client privilege.  (See, e.g., id at 28:13-25 (asking for the 

“conclusion” of Gray Reed); 110:7-111:20 (asking about the specific services provided by Gray 

Reed); 122:2-124:6 (asking about the basis for Gray Reed’s determination); 138:24-139:4 

(asking if she relied on Gray Reed’s advice to reach a conclusion)).  The only questions Ms. 

Nicolaou refused to answer were those that are clearly privileged and not subject to discovery.  

22. The LP Plaintiffs have also taken the deposition of a corporate representative of 

PDC, Darwin Stump, who testified at length regarding PDC’s communications and negotiations 

with Ms. Nicolaou and Debtors’ counsel, both before and after the petition date. 

23. In addition, the Debtors have produced approximately 6,300 pages of documents 

in response to requests served by the LP Plaintiffs.  Many of these documents relate to the same 

                                                           
5 The relevant portions of Ms. Nicolaou’s deposition transcript are attached as Exhibit C. 
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issues on which the LP Plaintiffs seek to depose Mr. Brookner—i.e., matters relating to Ms. 

Nicolaou’s pre-petition investigation, analysis and actions taken on behalf of the Debtors.  

24. Accordingly, the LP Plaintiffs cannot satisfy the first Shelton factor as there are 

clearly other sources from which the information sought may be, and has been, obtained. 

B. The Information Sought Is Subject to the Attorney-Client and Work Product 
Privileges and Irrelevant to the Pending Matters. 

25. The LP Plaintiffs also fail the second Shelton factor, as they have not established 

that the testimony they seek from Mr. Brookner is non-privileged and relevant to the Pending 

Matters.  See Shelton, 805 F.2d at 1327; Nguyen, 197 F.3d at 208. 

1. Mr. Brookner’s Confidential Communications with Ms. Nicolaou Are 
Subject to the Attorney-Client Privilege 

26. The attorney-client privilege exists to “encourage full and frank communication 

between attorneys and their clients and thereby promote broader public interests in the 

observance of law and administration of justice.”  Upjohn Co. v. United States, 449 U.S. 383, 

389 (1981).  This privilege “rests on the need for the advocate and counselor to know all that 

relates to the client’s reasons for seeking representation if the professional mission is to be 

carried out.”  Id. (quoting Trammel v. United States, 445 U.S. 40, 51 (1980)).  A communication 

made “in confidence for the purpose of obtaining legal advice from the lawyer” falls within the 

scope of the privilege.  United States v. El Paso Co., 682 F.2d 530, 538 (5th Cir. 1982); see also 

United States v. Robinson, 121 F.3d 971, 974 (5th Cir. 1997) (“The party asserting that 

communication is protected by the privilege must prove: (1) that he made a confidential 

communication; (2) to a lawyer or his subordinate; (3) for the primary purpose of securing a 

legal opinion or legal services, or assistance in some legal proceeding”). 

27. Additionally, the research done by an attorney to respond to a client’s request [for 

advice] also falls within the reaches of the privilege.”  Nguyen, 197 F.3d at 206.  The attorney-
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client privilege is meant to encourage clients to obtain “fully informed legal advice” that allows 

them to better understand their legal obligations, rather than cause clients to be “reluctant to 

confide in [their] lawyer.”  See Fisher v. United States, 425 U.S. 391, 403-4 (1976). 

28. While the Subpoena does not state the topics on which the LP Plaintiffs seek to 

question Mr. Brookner, the LP Plaintiffs have indicated they intend to depose Mr. Brookner 

regarding (i) the legal analyses performed by Mr. Brookner and Gray Reed with respect to the 

chapter 11 cases, including, but not limited to, the strengths and weaknesses of the claims 

asserted in the Colorado Action, and (ii) confidential communications between Mr. Brookner 

and/or Gray Reed and Ms. Nicolaou while Gray Reed was engaged as counsel for Debtors. It is 

clear that such questions would invade areas of work product, core work product, and attorney-

client privilege.  Further, the LP Plaintiffs have not given the Court any method of assurance that 

such areas are not within the scope of the proposed deposition, as they have not provided either 

the Court or Debtors with the proposed questions they wish to ask Mr. Brookner, as would be 

typical when seeking the deposition of opposing counsel.  See Cooper v. Harvey, No. 3:14-CV-

4152-B, 2015 WL 11120999, at *2 (N.D. Tex. Nov. 3, 2015).   

29. Any testimony from Mr. Brookner regarding his engagement by Debtors, his 

confidential communications with Ms. Nicolaou in his capacity as lead counsel for the Debtors, 

and his analysis and mental impressions of the issues in these chapter 11 cases, including, but not 

limited to, the strengths and weaknesses of the claims asserted in the Colorado Action, would 

violate the attorney-client privilege, as any such testimony would reflect: (1) confidential 

communications, (2) to a lawyer, (3) for the primary purpose of securing a legal opinion or legal 

services, or assistance in some legal proceeding. See Robinson, 121 F.3d at 974.  The LP 

Plaintiffs have not established, and have not even argued, that the attorney-client privilege does 
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not apply to all of Mr. Brookner’s confidential communications with Ms. Nicolaou.  

Accordingly, the Court should quash the Subpoena and grant protection. 

2. The Work-Product Doctrine Shields Mr. Brookner’s Analyses and 
Mental Impressions from Discovery 

30. The work product doctrine shields from discovery “documents and tangible things 

that are prepared in anticipation of litigation or for trial by or for another party or its 

representatives (including the other party’s attorney, consultant, surety, indemnitor, insurer, or 

agent).”6  FED. R. CIV. P. 26(b)(3)(A).  The work-product doctrine is “distinct from and broader 

than the attorney-client privilege”; it protects materials prepared by an attorney or his agents, 

whether or not they were disclosed to the client.  United States v. Nobles, 422 U.S. 225, 238 n.11 

(1975); In re Grand Jury Proceedings, 601 F.2d 162, 171 (5th Cir. 1979).  At its core, the 

doctrine “shelters the mental processes of the attorney, providing a privileged area within which 

he can analyze and prepare his client’s case.”  Nobles, 422 U.S. at 238; see also FED. R. CIV. P. 

26(b)(3)(B) (stating that court should protect against disclosure of the attorney’s “metal 

impressions, conclusions, opinions, or legal theories”).  It is axiomatic that the purpose of the 

work-product doctrine is to allow an attorney “to assemble information, sift what he considers to 

be the relevant from the irrelevant facts, prepare his legal theories and plan his strategy without 

undue and needless interference . . . to promote justice and to protect [his] clients’ interests.”  

Hickman v. Taylor, 329 U.S. 495, 510 (1947). 

31. Beyond factual work product is “core” work product, which includes the “mental 

impressions, conclusions, opinions, or legal theories” of an attorney.  FED. R. CIV. P. 26(b)(3).  

When determining whether to order disclosure of work product, “courts have consistently 

                                                           
6 The federal standard set forth in Rule 26(b)(3) governs work-product protection.  See, e.g., In re Powerhouse 
Licensing, LLC, 441 F.3d 467, 472 (6th Cir. 2006); Baker v. Gen. Motors Corp., 209 F.3d 1051, 1053 (8th Cir. 
2000); United Coal Cos. v. Powell Constr., 839 F.2d 958, 966 (3d Cir. 1988). 
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distinguished between primarily factual work product and ‘core’ work product,” with the latter 

“entitled to more stringent protection.”  Crosby v. City of New York, 269 F.R.D. 267, 278 

(S.D.N.Y. 2010).  The protection of core work product has been described as “absolute.”  Id. 

(citing Nat’l Un. Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburg, Pa. v. Murray Sheet Metal Co., 967 F.2d 980, 983-84 

(4th Cir. 1992)). 

32. Evidence that touches on an attorney’s “assessment of [a] case. . . must be 

considered core work-product.”  Cf. In re Latin Inv. Corp., 160 B.R. 262, 266 (Bankr. D.D.C. 

1993).  The District Court has stated plainly that core work product is “not discoverable.”  

Hartford Underwriters, Ins. Co. v. Elite Spice, Inc., No. 3:10-CV-0466-P (BK), 2011 WL 

13233326, at *2 (N.D. Tex. June 16, 2011).  A deposition, such as the one sought by the LP 

Plaintiffs, focused on an attorney’s initial thoughts, analysis, and research on a legal matter 

clearly implicates core work product, which is not discoverable.  See FED. R. CIV. P. 26(b)(3)(A)-

(B). 

33. Here, the Subpoena undoubtedly seeks the mental impressions and analysis of Mr. 

Brookner, in his capacity as lead counsel for the Debtors.  The analyses conducted by Mr. 

Brookner and Gray Reed to assist the Debtors and Ms. Nicolaou in preparing for these chapter 

11 cases and the associated contested matters are covered by the work-product doctrine.  United 

States v. Campos, 20 F.3d 1171, 1171 (5th Cir. 1994) (noting that an attorney’s work product 

“‘is reflected, of course, in interviews, statements, memoranda, correspondence, briefs, mental 

impressions, personal beliefs, and countless other tangible and intangible ways’”).  Further, Mr. 

Brookner’s mental impressions would clearly be core work product that is “not discoverable.”  

Hartford, 2011 WL 13233326, at *2. 
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34. The LP Plaintiffs have not made the showing necessary to satisfy the second 

Shelton factor and to overcome the attorney-client and work product privileges.  Accordingly, 

the Court should quash the Subpoena and grant the requested protection. 

C. Mr. Brookner’s Testimony Is Not Crucial to the LP Plaintiffs’ Case. 

35. The LP Plaintiffs have not satisfied the third element of the Shelton inquiry, 

which requires that information sought during the deposition of opposing counsel be “crucial to 

the preparation of the case.”  Shelton, 805 F.2d at 1327 (8th Cir. 1986).  To be “crucial,” the 

information must be decisive or pivotal, not merely relevant or beneficial.  See Issaquana & 

Warren Counties Land Co. v. Warren Cnty., Miss., No. 5:07-cv-106-DCB-JMR, 2011 WL 

6092450, at *5 (S.D. Miss. Dec. 7, 2011) (“Certainly [the information sought] would aid in the 

preparation and benefit the plaintiff’s case, but there is no evidence that information sought is 

crucial to the preparation of the case”).  The parties seeking the deposition must explain how the 

information sought affects their case.  Harrison v. Chi. Tribune Co., 134 F.R.D. 232, 234 (N.D. 

Ill. 1990).  “[G]eneral assertions of need” will not suffice.  Id. 

36. The LP Plaintiffs have not established that Mr. Brookner’s testimony is crucial to 

their case, nor are they able to do so.  As stated above, the Debtors have already produced all 

relevant, non-privileged documents and communications in these cases in response to the LP 

Plaintiffs’ request for production in connection with the Pending Matters, including non-

privileged communications to and from Gray Reed.  The LP Plaintiffs have also taken thorough 

depositions of Ms. Nicolaou and Mr. Stump covering the same issues about which they seek to 

depose Mr. Brookner.  As such, testimony from Mr. Brookner is not crucial to the LP Plaintiffs’ 

case, and the Court should quash the Subpoena and grant protection. 
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CONCLUSION 

37. The LP Plaintiffs’ attempt to elicit deposition testimony from Mr. Brookner 

should be seen for what it is: an effort to harass the Debtors and their counsel and fish for 

privileged information.  The Court should not allow these discovery abuses and should quash the 

Subpoena and grant appropriate protection.  For the foregoing reasons, the Court should grant 

this Motion, quash the Subpoena, and enter a protective order precluding the LP Plaintiffs from 

deposing Mr. Brookner. 

NOTICE 

38. Notice of this Motion has been provided to: (i) counsel to PDC; (ii) counsel to the 

LP Plaintiffs; (iii) the U.S. Trustee; and (iv) all other parties who have subscribed for electronic 

notification in these chapter 11 cases.  The Debtors respectfully submit that such notice is 

appropriate and that no other or further notice be provided. 

WHEREFORE, the Debtors respectfully request that this Court enter an order, 

substantially in the form of Exhibit B attached hereto (i) quashing the Subpoena and granting 

protection, and (ii) granting such other and further relief as may be just and proper. 

 

[Intentionally left blank—signature page follows.] 

Case 18-33513-sgj11 Doc 172 Filed 05/24/19    Entered 05/24/19 16:40:24    Page 15 of 111



DEBTORS’ MOTION TO QUASH BROOKNER SUBPOENA AND MOTION FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER– Page 16  
4847-2424-7192, v. 2 

 Respectfully submitted this 24th day of May, 2019. 

GRAY REED & McGRAW LLP 
 

By:   /s/ Lydia R. Webb   
 Lydia R. Webb  
 Texas Bar No. 24083758 
 Amber M. Carson 
 Texas Bar No. 24075610 
1601 Elm Street, Suite 4600 
Dallas, Texas 75201 
Telephone: (214) 954-4135 
Facsimile: (214) 953-1332 
Email:  lwebb@grayreed.com 
   acarson@grayreed.com  
 
-and- 
 

James J. Ormiston 
Texas Bar No. 15307500 

1300 Post Oak Blvd., Suite 2000 
Houston, Texas 77056 
Telephone:  (713) 986-7000 
Facsimile:   (713) 986-7100 
Email:  jormiston@grayreed.com  
 
COUNSEL TO THE DEBTORS 

 
CERTIFICATE OF CONFERENCE 

The undersigned hereby certifies that on May 24, 2019, she conferred with counsel to the 
LP Plaintiffs about withdrawing the Subpoena.  Opposing counsel declined to withdraw the 
Subpoena, thus precipitating this Motion. 

/s/ Lydia R. Webb    
Lydia R. Webb 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

The undersigned hereby certifies that on the 24th day of May, 2019, she caused a true and 
correct copy of the foregoing document to be served on the parties appearing on the Limited 
Service List maintained in these cases via first class United States mail, postage prepaid and, 
where possible, via electronic mail. 

/s/ Lydia R. Webb   
Lydia R. Webb 
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Exhibit A 
 

Subpoena
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B2S60 (Form 2560 - Subpoena to Testify at a Deposition in a Bankruptcy Case or Adversary Proceeding) (12/15)

slnlfiUnited States Bankruptcy Court
District ofNORTHERN TEXAS

III re ^■oc^'cs ^c8‘on Limited Partnership and Rockies Region 2007 Limited Partnership

Debtor 18-33513 jointly administeredCase No.
(Complete if issued in an adversary proceeding)

11Chapter

Plaintiff 
v. ■ Adv. Proc. No.

Defendant

SUBPOENA TO TESTIFY AT A DEPOSITION 
IN A BANKRUPTCY CASE (OR ADVERSARY PROCEEDING)

Jason Brookner, Gray Reed & McGraw LLP, 1601 Main Street, Suite 4600, Dallas, TX 75201
To:

(Name of person to whom the subpoena is directed)

[Mj Testimony. YOU ARE COMMANDED to appear at the time, date, and place set forth below to testify at a deposition to 

be taken in this bankruptcy case (or adversary proceeding). If you are an organization, you must designate one or more 

officers, directors, or managing agents, or designate other persons who consent to testify on your behalf about the following 

matters, or those set forth in an attachment:

DATE AND TIME

June 5, 2019 at 9:30 a.m.
PLACE

The Law Office of Mark A. Weisbart, 12770 Coit Road, Suite 600, Dallas, Texas 75251

The deposition will be recorded by this method:

By certified court reporter, authorized by law to administer oaths, and will be recorded by stenographic tape recording device 

I I Production: You, or your representatives, must also bring with you to the deposition the following documents, 

electronically stored information, or objects, and must permit inspection, copying, testing, or sampling of the material:

The following provisions of Fed. R. Civ. P. 45, made applicable in bankruptcy cases by Fed, R. Bankr. P. 9016, are 

attached - Rule 45(c), relating to the place of compliance; Rule 45(d), relating to your protection as a person subject to a 

subpoena; and Rule 45(e) and 45(g), relating to your duty to respond to this subpoena and the potential consequences of not 

doing so.

05/22/2019Date:
CLERIC OF COURT

LCAzOR

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk Attorney's signature

The name, address, email address, and telephone number of the attorney representing (name ofparty)
, who issues or requests this subpoena, are:

Mark A. Weisbart, 12770 Coit Road, Suite 541, Dallas, Texas 75251; mark@weisbartlaw.net (972) 628-4903
Robert F. Dufresne. et al.

Notice to the person who issues or requests this subpoena 

If this subpoena commands the production of documents, electronically stored information, or tangible things, or the 

inspection of premises before trial, a notice and a copy of this subpoena must be served on each party before it is served on 

the person to whom it is directed. Fed. R. Civ. P. 45(a)(4).

Case 18-33513-sgj11 Doc 172 Filed 05/24/19    Entered 05/24/19 16:40:24    Page 18 of 111



B2560 (Form 2560 - Subpoena to Testify at a Deposition in a Bankruptcy Case or Adversary Proceeding) (Page 2)

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed, R. Civ. P. 45.)

I received this subpoena for (name of individual and title, if any):_______________________________

on (date)_________ .

[~~l I served the subpoena by delivering a copy to the named person as follows:

on (date) ; or

H I returned the subpoena unexecuted because:

Unless the subpoena was issued on behalf of the United States, or one of its officers or agents, I have also tendered to the 

witness the fees for one day’s attendance, and the mileage allowed by law, in the amount of $___________________

for services, for a total of $for travel and $My fees are $

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true and correct.

Date:
Server's signature

Printed name and title

Server‘s address

Additional information concerning attempted service, etc.:
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Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 45(c), (d), (e), and (g) (Effective 12/1/13) 
(made applicable in bankruptcy cases by Rule 9016, Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure)

(c) Place of compliance. (ii) disclosing an unretained expert's opinion or information that does 
not describe specific occurrences in dispute and results from the expert's 
study that was not requested by a party.

(C) Specifying Conditions as an Alternative. In the circumstances 
described in Rule 45(d)(3)(B), the court may, instead of quashing or 
modifying a subpoena, order appearance or production under specified 
conditions if the serving party:

(i) shows a substantial need for the testimony or material that cannot 
be otherwise met without undue hardship; and

(ii) ensures that the subpoenaed person will be reasonably 
compensated.

(1) For a Trial, Hearing, or Deposition. A subpoena may command a 
person to attend a trial, hearing, or deposition only as follows:

(A) within 100 miles of where the person resides, is employed, or 
regularly transacts business in person; or

(B) within the state where the person resides, is employed, or regularly 
transacts business in person, if the person

(i) is a party or a party’s officer; or
(ii) is commanded to attend a trial and would not incur substantial

expense.

(2) For Other Discovery. A subpoena may command:
(A) production of documents, or electronically stored information, or 

things at a place within 100 miles of where the person resides, is employed, 
or regularly transacts business in person; and

(B) inspection of premises, at the premises to be inspected.

(d) Protecting a Person Subject to a Subpoena; Enforcement.

(!) Avoiding Undue Burden or Expense; Sanctions. A party or 
attorney responsible for issuing and serving a subpoena must take 
reasonable steps to avoid imposing undue burden or expense on a person 
subject to the subpoena. The court for the district where compliance is 
required must enforce this duty and impose an appropriate sanction — 
which may include lost earnings and reasonable attorney's fees — on a 
party or attorney who fails to comply.

(e) Duties in Responding to a Subpoena.

(I) Producing Documents or Electronically Stored Information. These 
procedures apply to producing documents or electronically stored 
information:

(A) Documents. A person responding to a subpoena to produce 
documents must produce them as they are kept in the ordinary course of 
business or must organize and label them to correspond to the categories in 
the demand.

(B) Form for Producing Electronically Stored Information Not 
Specified. If a subpoena does not specify a form for producing 
electronically stored information, the person responding must produce it in 
a form or forms in which it is ordinarily maintained or in a reasonably 
usable form or forms.

(C) Electronically Stored Information Produced in Only One Form. The 
person responding need not produce the same electronically stored 
information in more than one form.

(D) Inaccessible Electronically Stored Information. The person 
responding need not provide discovery of electronically stored information 
from sources that the person identifies as not reasonably accessible because 
of undue burden or cost. On motion to compel discovery or for a protective 
order, the person responding must show that the information is not 
reasonably accessible because of undue burden or cost. If that showing is 
made, the court may nonetheless order discovery from such sources if the 
requesting party shows good cause, considering the limitations of Rule 
26(b)(2)(C). The court may specify conditions for the discovery.

(2) Command to Produce Materials or Permit Inspection.
(A) Appearance Not Required. A person commanded to produce 

documents, electronically stored information, or tangible things, or to 
permit the inspection of premises, need not appear in person at the place of 
production or inspection unless also commanded to appear for a deposition, 
hearing, or trial.

(B) Objections. A person commanded to produce documents or tangible 
things or to permit inspection may serve on the party or attorney designated 
in the subpoena a written objection to inspecting, copying, testing or 
sampling any or all of the materials or to inspecting the premises — or to 
producing electronically stored information in the form or forms requested. 
The objection must be served before the earlier of the time specified for 
compliance or 14 days after the subpoena is served. If an objection is made, 
file following rules apply:

(i) At any time, on notice to the commanded person, the serving party 
may move the court for the district where compliance is required for an 
order compelling production or inspection.

(ii) These acts may be required only as directed in the order, and the 
order must protect a person who is neither a party nor a party's officer from 
significant expense resulting from compliance.

(3) Quashing or Modifying a Subpoena.
(A) When Required. On timely motion, the court for the district where 

compliance is required must quash or modify a subpoena that:
(i) fails to allow a reasonable time to comply;
(ii) requires a person to comply beyond the geographical limits 

specified in Rule 45(c);
(iii) requires disclosure of privileged or other protected matter, if no 

exception or waiver applies; or
(iv) subjects a person to undue burden.

(B) When Permitted. To protect a person subject to or affected by a 
subpoena, the court for the district where compliance is required may, on 
motion, quash or modify the subpoena if it requires:

(i) disclosing a trade secret or other confidential research, 
development, or commercial information; or

(2) Claiming Privilege or Protection.
(A) Information Withheld. A person withholding subpoenaed 

information under a claim that it is privileged or subject to protection as 
trial-preparation material must:

(i) expressly make the claim; and
(ii) describe the nature of the withheld documents, communications, 

or tangible things in a manner that, without revealing information itself 
privileged or protected, will enable the parties to assess the claim.

(B) Information Produced. If information produced in response to a 
subpoena is subject to a claim of privilege or of protection as trial- 
preparation material, the person making the claim may notify any party that 
received the information of the claim and the basis for it. After being 
notified, a party must promptly return, sequester, or destroy the specified 
information and any copies it has; must not use or disclose the information 
until the claim is resolved; must take reasonable steps to retrieve the 
information if the party disclosed it before being notified; and may 
promptly present the information under seal to the court for the district 
where compliance is required for a determination of the claim. The person 
who produced the information must preserve the information until the claim 
is resolved.

(g) Contempt. The court for the district where compliance is required - and 
also, after a motion is transferred, the issuing court - may hold in contempt 
a person who, having been served, fails without adequate excuse to obey 
the subpoena or an order related to it.

For access to subpoena materials, see Fed. R. Civ. P. 45(a) Committee Note (2013)
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Mark A. Weisbart
Texas Bar No. 21102650
James S. Brouner
Texas Bar No. 03087285
The Law Office of Mark A. Weisbart

12770 CoitRd., Suite 541
Dallas, Texas 75251
Phone: (972) 628-4903
mark@weisbartlaw.net
ibrouner@weisbartlaw.net

and

Thomas G. Foley 
California Bar No. 65812 
Foley Bezek Behle & Curtis, LLP 
15 West Carrillo Street 
Santa Barbara, California 93101 
Telephone: (805) 962-9495 
Facsimile: (805) 962-0722 
tfolev@folevbezek.com

Counsel for the Dufresne Family Trust,
THE SCHULEIN FAMILY TRUST, THE MICHAEL A. GAFFEY 
AND JOANNE M. GAFFEY LIVING TRUST, MARCH 2000, AND 
the Glickman Family Trust dated August 29,1994 
the William J. and Judith A. McDonald Living 
Trust Dated April 16,1991

IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 

FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 
DALLAS DIVISION

In Re:
CaseNo. 18-33513 
Chapter 11Rockies Region 2006 Limited Partnership 

and Rockies Region 2007 Limited 
Partnership (Jointly Administered)

Debtors

NOTICE OF DEPOSITION OF JASON BROOKNER 
PURSUANT TO FED.R.CIV.P. 30, MADE 

APPLICABLE BY FED.R.BANKR.P. 7030 AND 9014

Jason Brookner, Gray Reed & McGraw LLP, 1601 Main Street, Suite 4600, Dallas, TX 

75201.
TO:

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. 30, made applicable by

Fed.R.Bankr.P. 7030 and 9014, Robert R. Dufresne, as Trustee of the Dufresne Family Trust;

Notice of Deposition Page 1
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Michael A. Gaffey, as Trustee of the Michael A. Gaffey and JoAnne M. Gaffey Living Trust dated 

March 2000; Ronald Glickman, as Trustee of the Glickman Family Trust established August 29,

1994; Jeffrey R. Schulein, as Trustee of the Schulein Family Trust established March 29, 1989;

and William J. McDonald as Trustee of the William J. McDonald and Judith A. McDonald Living

Trust dated April 16, 1991 (collectively, “Movants”) through their attorneys will take the 

deposition of Jason Brookner (“Deponent”) in connection with Movants’ Amended Motions to 

Dismiss Chapter 11 Case and the Debtors’ Applications for Order (i) Authorizing the Retention of 

Hamey Management Partners to Provide Responsible Party and Additional Personnel; (ii) 

Designating Karen Nicolaou as Responsible Party Effective as of the Petition Date; and (iii) 

Granting Related Relief filed in both the Rockies Region 2006 Partnership case, case #18-33513

and the Rockies Region 2007 Partnership case, Case # 18-33514.

PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that the deposition will commence on June 5,2019

at 9:30 a.m. at the Law Office of Mark A. Weisbart, 12770 Coit Road, Suite 600, Dallas, Texas

75251 and will continue day to day subject to the time limitations of Fed.R.Bankr.P 7030 until

completion.

PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that the deposition will take place before a certified

court reporter, authorized by law to administer oaths, and will be recorded by stenographic tape

recording device.

By this Notice, those served are invited to attend, and if they so choose, examine the

witness.

Notice of Deposition Page 2
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Respectfully Submitted.DATED: May 22, 2019.

Mark A. Weisbart
Texas Bar No. 21102650
James S. Brouner
Texas Bar No. 03087285
The Law Office of Mark A. Weisbart
12770 Colt Road, Suite 541
Dallas, Texas 75251
(972) 628-4903 Phone
mark@weisbaitlaw.net
ibrouner@weisbartlaw.net

and

Thomas G. Foley
California Bar No. 65812
Foley Bezek Behle & Curtis, LLP
15 West Carrillo Street
Santa Barbara, California 93101
(805) 962-9495 Phone
(805) 962-0722 Facsimile
tfolev@folevbezek.com

Counsel for the Dufresne Family Trust,
THE SCHULE1N FAMILY TRUST, THE MICHAEL A. GAFFEY 
and Joanne M. Gaffey living Trust, March 2000, and 
the Glickman family trust dated August 29,1994 
the William J. and Judith A. McDonald Living 
Trust Dated April 16,1991

Notice of Deposition Page 3
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

The undersigned hereby certifies that on May 22, 2019, a true and correct copy of the 

foregoing document was served by electronic mail to the parties identified below:

James J. Ormiston 
Gray Reed & McGraw LLP 
1300 Post Oak Blvd, Suite 2000 
Houston, Texas 77056 
iormiston@gravreed.com

Jason S. Brookner 
Lydia Webb
Gray Reed & McGraw LLP 
1601 Elm Street, Suite 4600 
Dallas, TX 75201 
ibrookner@gravreed.com 
lwebb@gravreed.comRobin Russell 

Hunton Andrews Kurth 
600 Travis, Suite 4200 
Houston, TX 77002 
rrussell@HuntonAK.com 
Office of the U.S. Trustee 
Northern District of Texas 
Attn: Stephen McKitt 
1100 Commerce St., Rm 976 
Dallas, TX 75242 
stephen.mckitt@usdoi.gov

Internal Revenue Service 
Special Procedures-Insolvency 
Attn: Ami E. Nash and Christopher J. 
Williamson 
P.O.Box 7346
Philadelphia, PA 19101-7346
ann.e.nash@usdoi.gov
christopher.i.williamson@usdoi.gov

Securities and Exchange Commission
Attn: Jolene Wise
175 W. Jackson Blvd., Suite 900
Chicago, IL 60604-2908
wisei@.sec.gov

Mark A. Weisbart

Notice of Deposition Page 4
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Exhibit B 
 

Proposed Order
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IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 

FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 
DALLAS DIVISION 

 
In re: 
 
ROCKIES REGION 2006 LIMITED 
PARTNERSHIP and ROCKIES REGION 
2007 LIMITED PARTNERSHIP,1 
 
  Debtors. 
 

§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 

Chapter 11 
 
Case No. 18-33513-sgj-11 
 
(Jointly Administered) 

ORDER GRANTING DEBTORS’ MOTION (i) TO QUASH SUBPOENA TO JASON S. 
BROOKNER TO TESTIFY AT A DEPOSITION IN A BANKRUPTCY CASE  

AND (ii) FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER 
 
 Upon the Motion (i) to Quash Subpoena to Jason S. Brookner to Testify at a Deposition 

in a Bankruptcy Case and (ii) for Protective Order filed by the above-captioned debtors and 

debtors in possession (collectively, the “Debtors”);2 and the Court having jurisdiction to consider 

this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 157 and 1334; and this matter being a core proceeding 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 157(b); and venue before this Court being proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 

                                                           
1 The Debtors in these chapter 11 cases, along with the last four digits of each Debtor’s federal tax identification 
number are: Rockies Region 2006 Limited Partnership (9573) and Rockies Region 2007 Limited Partnership (8835). 
2 Capitalized terms used but not defined herein have the meanings set forth in the Motion. 

Case 18-33513-sgj11 Doc 172 Filed 05/24/19    Entered 05/24/19 16:40:24    Page 26 of 111



4847-2424-7192, v. 2 

§ 1408 and 1409; and the Court being satisfied that the relief requested in the Motion is 

appropriate; and it appearing that sufficient notice of the Motion has been given, and that no 

other or further notice is required; and after due deliberation and good cause appearing therefor, 

it is 

 ORDERED AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The Motion is granted. 

2. The Subpoena is hereby quashed.  

3. The LP Plaintiffs are precluded from deposing Jason S. Brookner in connection 

with the Pending Matters. 

# # # END OF ORDER # # # 

 

Submitted by: 
 
GRAY REED & McGRAW LLP 
 

Jason S. Brookner 
Texas Bar No. 24033684 
Lydia R. Webb 
Texas Bar No. 24083758 
Amber M. Carson 
Texas Bar No. 24075610 

1601 Elm Street, Suite 4600 
Dallas, Texas 75201 
Telephone: (214) 954-4135 
Facsimile:  (214) 953-1332 
jbrookner@grayreed.com 
lwebb@grayreed.com 
acarson@grayreed.com  
 
COUNSEL TO THE DEBTORS
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           IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
           FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
                     DALLAS DIVISION

IN RE:                       )
                             ) CASE NO. 18-33513
ROCKIES REGION 2006          ) CHAPTER 11
LIMITED PARTNERSHIP and      )
ROCKIES REGION 2007          )
LIMITED PARTNERSHIP          ) (Jointly Administered)
                             )
               DEBTORS       )

           -----------------------------------

                   ORAL DEPOSITION OF

                     KAREN NICOLAOU

                       MAY 7, 2019

           -----------------------------------

     ORAL DEPOSITION OF KAREN NICOLAOU, produced as a

witness at the instance of The Dufresne Family Trust,

The Schulein Family Trust, The Michael A. Gaffey and

Joanne M. Gaffey Living Trust, March 2000, and The

Glickman Family Trust dated August 29, 1994, The William

J. and Judith A. McDonald Living Trust dated April 16,

1991, and duly sworn, was taken in the above-styled and

-numbered cause on May 7, 2019, from 9:07 a.m. to 6:04

p.m., before Mercedes Arellano, CSR in and for the State

of Texas, reported by machine shorthand, at the law

offices of Gray, Reed & McGraw, LLP, 1601 Elm Street

Suite 4600, Dallas, Texas, pursuant to the Federal Rules

of Civil Procedure.
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1      Q.  All right.  I'll have this marked as Exhibit 1.

2               (Exhibit 1 marked.)

3               MR. BROOKNER:  Do you have copies you can

4 pass around?

5               MR. WEISBART:  Here, I got -- I think I got

6 one extra one.

7               MR. ORMISTON:  I can just share mine.

8 That's fine.

9               MR. WEISBART:  Okay.  I got one extra one.

10      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Do you recognize that

11 document?

12      A.  Yes.

13      Q.  Okay.  What is it?

14      A.  These are my contemporaneous notes from that

15 phone call.

16      Q.  Okay.  So there was a phone call on January

17 17th, 2008 --

18      A.  Yes.

19      Q.  -- about your possible employment?

20                And these are your personal notes

21 associated with that call; is that correct?

22      A.  Yes.

23      Q.  Okay.  And who was on the call?

24      A.  Myself, Joseph Rivera, Lydia Webb, and Jason

25 Brookner.
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1      Q.  Okay.

2      A.  According to the notes.

3      Q.  Now, what was discussed on the call?

4      A.  Various aspects.  I mean, it's written down

5 these are the notes.

6      Q.  Well, various aspects related to?

7      A.  Retention, the stats of the partnerships.

8      Q.  Retention to do what?

9      A.  To analyze the partnerships and ascertain the

10 best way to maximize the value of the assets.

11      Q.  Okay.  And these notes describe topics that you

12 discussed; is that correct?

13      A.  Yes.

14      Q.  Okay.  Was background information concerning

15 the partnerships discussed from your notes?

16      A.  Yes.

17      Q.  What was your understanding of the partnerships

18 at the time you were contacted?

19               MR. ORMISTON:  Can you give her that

20 question again, please.

21      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  What was your understanding

22 of what the partnerships -- what business the

23 partnerships were engaged in at the time you were

24 contacted?

25      A.  The business that they were operating, oil and
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1 gas wells.

2      Q.  Operating what?

3      A.  Oil and gas wells.

4      Q.  Okay.  Were they doing anything more than

5 operating them?

6      A.  I --

7      Q.  Did -- they owned oil and gas wells, right?

8      A.  Yes.

9      Q.  All right.  And what was the reason you were

10 being contacted; was there some problem with the

11 partnerships?

12      A.  The assets were at the end of their lives.

13      Q.  Okay.  The assets being the oil and gas wells?

14      A.  Yes.

15      Q.  And that was subject -- the subject matter of

16 your discussion on January 17th?

17      A.  Yes.

18      Q.  Again, refer you to the second page of your

19 notes, high lined pressures.  Do you see where I'm

20 referring to, towards the top of page, "Horizontal

21 drilling around wells has increased pressure" -- is that

22 word "destroy," "destroy or kill production"?

23      A.  Yes.

24      Q.  Was that part of the problem that the

25 partnership wells was having, as you were told?
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1      A.  The high line pressures, yes.

2      Q.  Okay.  And down further, it says, "PDC has been

3 plugging verticals 285 during 2017."

4               What does that mean?

5      A.  Excuse me.  It means they've been plugging

6 wells.

7      Q.  Vertical wells?

8      A.  Yes.

9      Q.  And what's your understanding of the term

10 "horizontal drilling"?

11      A.  Horizontal drilling?

12      Q.  Uh-huh.

13      A.  It goes this way (indicating).

14      Q.  Sideways?

15      A.  Sideways.  Thank you.

16      Q.  All right.  Was there a conversation about how

17 many wells had been plugged in connection with

18 the -- between these two partnerships, the '06 and the

19 '07 partnerships?

20      A.  There's a note here that discusses 15 wells in

21 2017 for the '06 and 53 wells for the '07 plugged in

22 2017.  Nothing previous to that -- oh, I'm sorry.  20

23 wells in '17.

24      Q.  All right.  And on the next page, there's a

25 reference to breach of fiduciary duty lawsuit filed in
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1 Colorado.  Do you see that?

2      A.  Yes.

3      Q.  And by the way, these are Bates stamped.  These

4 are documents that were produced by Mr. Brookner's

5 office or by you?

6      A.  Okay.  Uh-huh.

7      Q.  And so if I make reference to a Bates stamp

8 number, I'll refer you to the bottom of the page.

9                So what were you told about the breach of

10 fiduciary duty lawsuit on this conference?

11      A.  That it was filed.  That it existed.

12      Q.  Anything else?

13      A.  Not that I recall.

14      Q.  Okay.  There was no discussion about your role

15 in connection with that lawsuit or what your role would

16 be related to that lawsuit?

17      A.  No.

18      Q.  Below that, it says "discuss settlement."  Can

19 you tell me why you wrote that down?

20      A.  Discuss settlement.  We talked about how -- no,

21 I can't.  I don't know what -- I don't have a context

22 for that, other than what's above it.

23      Q.  Was there a discussion about whether or not you

24 would be -- would be employed to try to figure out ways

25 to settle the claims involved in that lawsuit?
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1      A.  No.

2      Q.  So why is that term written there, "discuss

3 settlement"; do you know?

4      A.  I can't tell from this if it is prior

5 settlement or upcoming settlement, if it's settlement of

6 the breach of fiduciary or something else.  It just says

7 "discuss settlement."

8      Q.  You don't recall one way or the other at this

9 point in time?

10      A.  I do not.

11      Q.  Okay.  All right.  And then on the Page 5919,

12 the next page?

13      A.  Uh-huh.

14      Q.  There's a statement, "Have distributions been

15 equal to or greater than the initial investment."

16                Was that discussed in the conference call

17 or --

18      A.  That's a question to be answered later.

19      Q.  All right.  Do you know why Mr. Rivera

20 contacted Ms. Webb and Mr. Brookner and not you

21 directly?

22      A.  Ms. Webb and Mr. Brookner have -- excuse

23 me -- previously represented me in these cases, in the

24 prior Eastern case.

25      Q.  In the related partnership cases?
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1      A.  Yes.

2      Q.  In other partnership cases?

3      A.  Yes.

4      Q.  All right.  Let me hand you what has been

5 marked as Exhibit 2.

6               MR. WEISBART:  Is that right?

7               THE COURT REPORTER:  Yes.

8               (Exhibit 2 marked.)

9      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  All right.  Let me refer you

10 to your notes real quick, the last Page 5919.  The very

11 last entry, "understand differences and partnership

12 agreements."  Do you see that?

13      A.  I do.

14      Q.  Was that a statement that you needed to

15 understand or were going to understand the differences

16 in the '06 and '07 partnership agreements between the

17 other partnership agreements in the other bankruptcy

18 cases, in the Eastern case?

19      A.  In between -- as between the Eastern and if any

20 between 2006 and 2007.

21      Q.  Is that what that means?

22      A.  Yes.

23      Q.  Okay.  Was there any discussion about the

24 differences in those?

25      A.  No.
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1 assets.

2      Q.  And as it says, "including overseeing all

3 actions in connection with the potential bankruptcy

4 filing or auction sale," correct?

5      A.  Yes.

6      Q.  Okay.  Did you review any documents in

7 connection with whether you had authority to serve as a

8 responsible party for the partnerships?

9      A.  I'm sorry?

10      Q.  Did you review any documents to determine

11 whether you had authority to serve as responsible party

12 for the partnerships?

13      A.  Yes.

14      Q.  What documents did you review?

15      A.  Partnership agreements.

16               (Exhibits 3 and 4 marked.)

17      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Let me hand you Exhibits 3

18 and 4, and ask you to identify those documents if you

19 can, please.

20      A.  I'm sorry.

21      Q.  Which is -- what is Exhibit 3?

22      A.  The Form of Limited Partnership Agreement of

23 Rockies Region 2006 Limited Partnership.

24      Q.  And Exhibit 4?

25      A.  Is Form of Limited Partnership Agreement of
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1 Rockies Region 2007 Limited Partnership.

2      Q.  And I'll represent to you these are documents

3 that are Bates stamped that were produced as part of the

4 production.

5                All right.  Are these the form of

6 agreements that you reviewed?

7      A.  Yes.

8      Q.  Now, I notice in the engagement agreement that

9 there are certain representations made by PDC.  Do you

10 see that on the second page?

11      A.  I do.

12      Q.  Okay.  And PDC, as managing general partner,

13 the partnership represents that it is authorized to

14 retain you as responsible party and references various

15 provisions of the partnership agreements?

16      A.  Yes.

17      Q.  Okay.  And by the way, to your knowledge, are

18 the partnership agreements generally the same?  Is there

19 any deviation between these two partnership agreements,

20 to your knowledge?

21      A.  I don't know.

22      Q.  Aside from the representation made by PDC and

23 your statement that you reviewed the partnership

24 agreements, did anyone else review documents on your

25 behalf in connection with the determination that you had
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1 authority to serve as responsible party?

2      A.  Counsel would have.

3      Q.  Which counsel?

4      A.  Jason Brookner and Lydia Webb.

5      Q.  What was your conclusion as to whether or not

6 you had authority?

7      A.  As to whether I had the authority?

8      Q.  Let me rephrase that.

9               What was your conclusion as to whether or

10 not PDC had authority to retain you on behalf of the

11 partnerships as responsible party?

12      A.  That they did.

13      Q.  Okay.  And what provisions did you rely on?

14      A.  "5.01:  Managing general partner shall conduct

15 direct and exercise full and exclusive control over the

16 activities of the partnership.  Investor partner shall

17 have no power over the conduct of the affairs of the

18 partnership or otherwise commit or bind the partnership

19 in any manner."

20                Give me a second.  I'll find the rest of

21 the provisions here.

22               MR. ORMISTON:  Just identify the

23 provisions.  You don't need to read it.

24               THE WITNESS:  I don't need to read them?

25 Okay.
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1               MR. ORMISTON:  He's just asking you which

2 provisions you relied on.

3      A.  5 and then 6.02.  6.02 M, G, J.  And there are

4 referenced here C.

5      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Essentially, the same

6 provisions that were identified in the PDC

7 representations on Page 2, the same sections?

8      A.  Yes.

9      Q.  All right.  Did you look at any West Virginia

10 statutes in connection with your determination that PDC

11 had authority to employ you as responsible party?

12      A.  No.

13      Q.  You said that Mr. Brookner and Lydia

14 Webb -- Ms. Webb, assisted you in analyzing this issue;

15 is that correct?

16      A.  I consulted with them, yes.

17      Q.  And what was their conclusion?

18               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, calls for

19 disclosure of attorney-client privilege information.

20               Instruct the witness not to answer the

21 question.

22      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Are you refusing to answer?

23      A.  I'm following -- I'm sorry.

24      Q.  You did not waive the privilege at this time?

25      A.  May I be excused for one minute?
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1      Q.  Yes.

2               MR. WEISBART:  Off the record.

3               (Break taken from 9:41 a.m. to 9:43 a.m.)

4               THE COURT REPORTER:  Back on the record.

5      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  I think where we left off is

6 that you were -- your client -- or excuse me -- your

7 counsel had asserted the attorney-client privilege.

8               Do you adopt his privilege --

9      A.  I do.

10      Q.  -- you're not waiving it?

11               MR. WEISBART:  Would you certify the

12 question, please.

13      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Was -- when did Gray Reed,

14 Jason Brookner, and Lydia Webb provide you their advice

15 concerning your authority to serve as responsible party?

16      A.  Over the period of time, we were -- you know,

17 this document was being circulated, which circulated for

18 a while, April to May.

19      Q.  All right.  So was it before the document

20 was -- the final document was executed?

21      A.  Yes.

22      Q.  Were they representing you at that time?  Were

23 they representing Bridgestone Consulting at that time?

24               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, form.  There's

25 two questions in there.
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1      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  All right.  Well, fair

2 enough.  Were they representing you personally during

3 this time period?

4      A.  They don't represent me personally.

5      Q.  Okay.  Were they representing Bridgepoint

6 Consulting during this time period?

7      A.  I don't know.

8      Q.  Okay.  So I'm -- but from the period of time

9 from January through April, they gave you this advice or

10 they looked into this issue?

11      A.  Yes.

12      Q.  So what is the basis of asserting the

13 attorney-client privilege if they weren't representing

14 you?

15               MR. ORMISTON:  Because she has been named

16 the responsible party, appointed as a responsible party

17 for the debtors.  We represent the debtors, so she is an

18 agent of the debtors.

19      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  At the time leading up to

20 the employment of this -- or the execution of this

21 agreement, you were not employed as responsible party;

22 is that correct?

23      A.  That's correct.

24      Q.  Did they tell you the basis of their

25 conclusion -- did Gray Reed tell you the basis of their
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1 conclusion?

2      A.  Could you repeat.

3      Q.  That you had authority to service responsible

4 party?

5      A.  They're --

6               MR. ORMISTON:  He's just asking you yes or

7 no, did the lawyers at Gray Reed inform you of the basis

8 of their conclusion?

9      A.  Yes.

10      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  And was their conclusion the

11 same as yours?

12               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, calls for the

13 disclosure of attorney-client privilege information.

14 Instruct the witness not to answer the question.

15      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Did you rely on the advice

16 of Gray Reed in connection with your engagement?

17      A.  I listened to what they had to say and made my

18 own decision.

19      Q.  Did you obtain a legal opinion concerning your

20 ability to be employed as responsible party?

21      A.  No.

22      Q.  Did you have any conversations with anyone at

23 PDC concerning your role as responsible party?

24      A.  No.

25      Q.  Did you express any concerns to PDC or anyone
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1 at PDC related to your authority to serve as responsible

2 party?

3      A.  No.

4      Q.  Did you have any conversations -- I'm sorry.

5                Did you have any conversations with

6 anyone -- with PD -- with anyone at any firm

7 representing PDC concerning the engagement agreement?

8      A.  I'm sorry.  Would you repeat that.

9      Q.  All right.  Did you understand that PDC was

10 being represented by counsel at the time -- around the

11 time that you were being employed as a responsible

12 party?

13      A.  Hunton AK, yes.

14      Q.  Did you have any conversations with anyone at

15 Hunton AK concerning the engagement agreement?

16      A.  No.

17      Q.  And AK refers to Andrews Kurth?

18      A.  Yes.

19      Q.  Did you run into any issues regarding the terms

20 of the engagement agreement during the time frame that

21 you've been serving as responsible party?

22               MR. ORMISTON:  I'm sorry.  Can we have that

23 again?

24      Q.  (BY MR. ORMISTON)  Did you run into any issues

25 regarding the terms of your engagement as responsible
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1 party?

2      A.  Again, these are standard terms.  I'm not a

3 partner at the firm.  The answer is no, as to me.

4      Q.  All right.  Again, you -- I believe you

5 testified that you considered the main thrust of your

6 engagement was to maximize the value or the assets for

7 the partnerships; is that a correct statement?

8      A.  Yes.

9      Q.  All right.  Are you aware of any conversations

10 between Mr. Patterson and PDC or their counsel related

11 to the terms of this engagement?

12      A.  Mister?

13      Q.  Patterson, the person who signed the

14 engagement?

15      A.  Oh, I'm sorry.

16                No.

17      Q.  Okay.  All right.  Part of your duties was to

18 explore options for divesting of assets of the

19 partnerships and entering into and executing definitive

20 documents to effect such sale.

21               Do you see that?

22      A.  Which page?

23      Q.  First page.

24      A.  Okay.

25      Q.  Is that part of the services you've been
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1 performing as responsible party?

2      A.  Yes.

3      Q.  All right.  And it also says, "Analyzing the

4 books and records of the partnerships and resolving

5 issues related to claims against an interest in the

6 partnerships."

7               Do you see that?

8      A.  Yes.

9      Q.  What -- are those services you've been

10 performing?

11      A.  The first part of it, yes.

12      Q.  What first part?

13      A.  Analyzing the books and records of the

14 partnerships, yes.

15      Q.  Okay.  And the second part, you haven't; is

16 that correct?

17      A.  We have not resolved any, no.

18      Q.  All right.  What resolution is

19 required -- associated with interest in the

20 partnerships?

21      A.  I haven't analyzed it.

22      Q.  All right.  In connection with the advice you

23 received from Gray Reed in connection with this

24 engagement letter, did Gray Reed bill you for their

25 services relating --
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1 have one.

2      A.  I'm not a lawyer.

3      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Do you have an answer for

4 the question, ma'am?

5      A.  I think I answered it when I said the duties

6 are spelled out.

7      Q.  As responsible party, do you consider yourself

8 to be a fiduciary?

9      A.  Yes.

10      Q.  Do you understand your duties as a fiduciary to

11 the partnerships?

12      A.  Yes.

13      Q.  What are those duties?

14      A.  To act in the partnership's best interest.

15      Q.  Anything else?

16      A.  To preserve the assets, to follow the

17 partnership agreement.

18      Q.  Who, if anyone, did you consult with as to

19 whether or not you are required, as responsible party,

20 to comply with the terms of the partnership agreements?

21      A.  No one.

22      Q.  You did not consult with any attorneys?

23      A.  No.

24      Q.  Did you discuss either orally or in writing

25 with anyone affiliated with PDC as to whether PDC's
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1 majority of the limited partners?

2               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, form.  Among

3 other things, it calls for a legal conclusion.

4      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  As a layperson?

5               MR. ORMISTON:  Same objection.

6      A.  That -- would you please repeat the question.

7      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Sure.

8               Is it your position you had authority under

9 the partnership agreements to put the partnerships in

10 bankruptcy?

11      A.  Yes.

12      Q.  Have you attempted to make decisions in

13 compliance with the terms of the partnership agreements?

14      A.  Yes.

15      Q.  Based on your review of the financial condition

16 of the 2006 partnership, did you decide that it was in

17 the best interest of the 2006 partnership to wind down

18 its business operations?

19      A.  I put it into bankruptcy.  It's not winding

20 down.  It's operating in the ordinary course.

21      Q.  All right.  So did you decide that it was in

22 the best interest to wind down its business operations?

23               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, asked and

24 answered.

25               Give him the same answer.
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1      A.  It's not winding down.

2      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Did you decide it was in the

3 best interest to dissolve the limited partnership?

4      A.  Not dissolving the limited partnership.

5      Q.  As responsible party of the limited

6 partnerships, do you have authority to call a meeting of

7 the limited partnerships?

8               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection to the extent it

9 calls if a legal conclusion.

10               You can give him your understanding if you

11 have one.

12      A.  I have no understanding.

13      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Did you make any effort to

14 determine whether you had this authority?

15      A.  No.

16      Q.  What, if any, investigation did you make to

17 determine what rights the limited partners of the

18 limited partnership had under the West Virginia Business

19 Corporation Act to approve or disapprove a sale of all

20 or substantially all of the limited partnership oil and

21 gas assets to PDC?

22               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, calls for a legal

23 conclusion.

24      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  I asked what you did, what

25 investigation you made.
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1               MR. ORMISTON:  Same objection.

2      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Are you refusing to answer

3 the question?

4      A.  I...

5      Q.  Let me repeat the question.

6      A.  Okay.  Please.

7      Q.  What, if any, investigation did you make to

8 determine what rights the limited partners of the

9 partnerships had under West Virginia -- under the West

10 Virginia Business Corporation Act to approve or

11 disapprove a sale of all or substantially all of the

12 limited partnership oil and gas assets to PDC?

13      A.  None.

14               MR. ORMISTON:  Object to the extent it

15 calls for a legal conclusion.

16               You can give him your understanding if you

17 one.

18      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  The answer was none?

19      A.  (Moving head up and down.)

20      Q.  Okay.  And I meant the West Virginia Limited

21 Partnership Act as opposed to corporation.

22               MR. ORMISTON:  Same objection.

23      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Same answer?

24      A.  Same answer.

25      Q.  Okay.  Thank you.
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1      Q.  And then on the next page, the very last entry,

2 "Refracking will be on Wellview" -- am I reading that

3 right, "Wellview report, 6 to 8 weeks refracked"?

4                Do you see that?

5               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, form.

6               You read it wrong.

7      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Can you read it for me

8 because I --

9      A.  "Refracking will be on" -- looks like --

10 "Wellview report, 6 to 8 wells refracted."

11      Q.  What is the Wellview report; do you know?

12      A.  No.

13      Q.  All right.  A meeting occurred on May 22nd, I

14 believe, in Denver; is that correct?

15      A.  Yes.

16      Q.  And who -- who was the meeting between?

17      A.  Darwin Stump, myself, and other individuals.  I

18 think perhaps Eric Roach and Jason Brookner.

19      Q.  Anyone else you can recall at the meeting?

20      A.  Joseph Rivera may have been there, but I don't

21 recall.

22      Q.  Okay.  And what was the purpose of the meeting?

23      A.  To exchange information.

24      Q.  Where was the meeting at?

25      A.  At PDC's offices.
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1      Q.  Okay.  What was discussed at the meeting?

2      A.  Status of the wells, as reflected in the notes.

3      Q.  Okay.  And the notes you're referring to begin

4 with Bates stamp 5924; is that correct?

5      A.  Yes.

6      Q.  And where do they end by Bates stamp?

7      A.  I believe 5928.

8      Q.  Were any decisions made at this meeting?

9      A.  No.

10      Q.  Was any information exchanged at the meeting?

11      A.  Yes.

12      Q.  Any documentation?

13      A.  I believe we reviewed documentation that was

14 subsequently uploaded.

15      Q.  Okay.  Do you recall what documents were

16 reviewed?

17      A.  No.

18      Q.  How long did the meeting last?

19      A.  The office portion?

20      Q.  Yeah.

21      A.  A day.

22      Q.  All right.  Was the Denver litigation

23 discussed?

24      A.  I'm unable to recall.

25      Q.  Okay.  And when I say "Denver litigation," I'm
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1 referring to the lawsuit filed by my clients in Federal

2 District Court in Denver.  Do you understand that?

3      A.  Yes.

4      Q.  Okay.  The notes that you identified as 5924

5 through 5928, for the most part, is that information

6 being conveyed to you or is it conclusions that you're

7 reaching?

8      A.  Information being conveyed to me.

9      Q.  There's a reference on the first page, "Use SCC

10 pricing mandate."  Do you recall what that means?

11      A.  It is referring to the un- -- to the discounted

12 cash flows, I believe.

13      Q.  Is it referring to a report -- a reserve

14 report; do you know?

15      A.  It would be the Ryder Scott.

16      Q.  Okay.  So the Ryder Scott report was discussed

17 at the meeting?

18      A.  This is all I know about what was discussed.

19      Q.  Okay.  There's a reference to the -- down at

20 the bottom of the page or towards the bottom of the

21 page, "spider web."

22               Am I reading that word that correctly?

23      A.  I'm sorry.  Which page?

24      Q.  The front Page 5924.

25      A.  Yes.
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1      Q.  Recall what the term "spider web" is?

2      A.  It refers to the way that DCP gathers gas or

3 gathers the...

4      Q.  On the next Page 5925, about three quarters of

5 the way down, there's a statement, "Oldest horizontals

6 in the field are nobles at '06."

7               Do you see that?

8      A.  I do.

9      Q.  What -- do you recall what was meant by that?

10      A.  I do not.

11      Q.  And then there's a statement below that, "New

12 plant will not precipitate much improvement in the '06

13 wells based on distance and the vertical wells in

14 between '06 oil field implant."

15               Do you see that?

16      A.  Yes.

17      Q.  Do you recall -- what is meant by that?

18      A.  It's referring to the inability to get the

19 product out of the ground and across the pipe to the

20 gathering station because of the high line pressure.

21      Q.  Okay.  There's a statement on the last

22 Page 5927, I believe, that towards the top says, "EPA

23 consent agree."

24               Do you see that?

25      A.  I do.
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1      Q.  Do you know what is meant by that?

2      A.  It refers to certain of the wells, and an

3 agreement that was entered into between the partnerships

4 and the EPA for environmental purposes.

5      Q.  So it refers to an agreement between the

6 partnerships.  Do you know what the terms of that

7 agreement are or were?

8      A.  I do not.

9      Q.  And then on the -- I'm sorry.  I said that was

10 the last page, but actually the next page -- there's a

11 reference "WBI."  Do you see that under the category

12 "Cook wells"?

13      A.  Uh-huh.

14      Q.  Do you know what WBI stands for?

15      A.  No.

16      Q.  Okay.  And then the following Page, "45 days to

17 file a response to amend a complaint."

18               Do you see that?

19      A.  I do.

20      Q.  So it appears the Denver litigation was

21 discussed at some capacity; is that correct?

22      A.  If that's what that refers to.

23      Q.  What else would it refer to?

24      A.  I don't know.

25      Q.  You don't recall any discussions about the
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1      Q.  You might not get lunch.

2                Did you direct those professionals?

3      A.  Yes.

4      Q.  There was a trip after the May 21st meeting to

5 the wells.  What was the point of the trip?

6      A.  I'm sorry?

7      Q.  You had -- you took a trip the next day after

8 your May 21st meeting to visit some of the wells; is

9 that correct?

10      A.  Yes.

11      Q.  What was the purpose of the trip?

12      A.  To see the wells.

13      Q.  To see them?

14      A.  Yes, to...

15      Q.  Anything else?

16      A.  (Moving head from side to side.)

17      Q.  All right.  As part of your evaluation of the

18 partnerships, did you have any discussions with

19 officers, employees, or representatives of PDC?

20      A.  Could you repeat the first half of that

21 question, please.

22      Q.  As part of your evaluation of the partnerships,

23 did you have any discussions with officers, employees,

24 or representatives of PDC?

25      A.  I had discussions with...
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1 your duties as responsible party, the partnership

2 agreement.

3               Are there -- having seen the list of

4 documents that have been provided to you, are there

5 other documents besides the partnership agreements that

6 you reviewed?

7      A.  I'm sorry?

8      Q.  What documents did you review in -- as

9 responsible party, in connection with the evaluation of

10 the partnerships?

11      A.  The SCC filings, the financial statements, the

12 partnership agreement, the Ryder Scott reports, an

13 analysis performed by Graves & Company.

14      Q.  Anything else you can think of?

15      A.  As I sit here today, no.

16      Q.  Was Robert Tiddens, T-I-D-D-E-N-S --

17      A.  Tiddens?  I'm sorry?

18      Q.  Robert Tiddens.

19               If you look at -- on your notes, docket

20 number -- excuse me -- 5931, a call with Robert Tiddens,

21 Jason Brookner?

22      A.  Yes.

23      Q.  Do you recall the conversation with

24 Mr. Tiddens?

25      A.  Yes.
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1      Q.  Can you explain what was discussed and --

2      A.  Potential engagement.

3      Q.  Who is he?

4      A.  He is a gentleman who does a significant amount

5 of work in the Colorado area, is my understanding.

6      Q.  For what purpose would he be engaged?

7      A.  To assist in the analysis of the alternatives

8 for the partnerships.

9      Q.  What is his profession?

10      A.  I do not recall.

11      Q.  Well, why -- would he -- why were you talking

12 to him for this purpose?

13      A.  To assist.

14      Q.  Did he have any special expertise?  Let me ask

15 the question that way.

16      A.  As I understood it, he had expertise in

17 advanced aged wells, et cetera, in the Wattenberg, and

18 transactions in the area.

19      Q.  So is he an oil and gas person, so to speak?

20      A.  I don't remember his background.

21      Q.  Did you employ him?

22      A.  I did not.

23      Q.  Did he provide any advice associated with your

24 role as responsible party?

25      A.  No.
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1                Is that what he was hired to do?

2      A.  Yes.

3      Q.  And those would be the wells owned by the '06

4 and '07 partnerships; is that correct?

5      A.  Yes.

6      Q.  Did you instruct him in connection with his

7 valuation?  Did you give him the parameters associated

8 with his valuation?

9               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, form.

10      A.  I asked him to value the wells.

11      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Okay.  Did you ask him to do

12 anything else?

13      A.  No.

14      Q.  Do you know what assumptions he made when he

15 valued the wells?

16      A.  They were stated -- no.  As I sit here, no.

17      Q.  Do you know if certain -- any assumptions were

18 given that if he made any assumptions associated with

19 the valuation of those wells?

20      A.  No.

21      Q.  Do you know if PDC gave him any instructions in

22 connection with the valuation?

23      A.  No.

24      Q.  You don't know or...

25      A.  I don't know.
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1      Q.  Okay.  Do you know what assumptions he did make

2 in connection with valuing the wells?

3      A.  I do not.

4      Q.  And again, you did not tell him to make any

5 assumptions; is that correct?

6      A.  I did not.

7      Q.  Okay.  Did representatives of PDC give him

8 assumptions to make in connection with his valuation of

9 the wells?

10      A.  No, not to my knowledge.

11               THE WITNESS:  Can we take a quick break?

12               MR. WEISBART:  Sure.

13               (Break taken from 11:20 a.m. to 11:26 a.m.)

14               (Exhibit 12 marked.)

15      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Let me hand you Exhibit 12.

16               I've handed you what has been marked as

17 Exhibit 12.  It's the report prepared by Graves &

18 Company Consulting, LLC, is it not?

19      A.  Yes.

20      Q.  Is this the report that Mr. Graves prepared on

21 behalf -- on your behalf?

22      A.  Yes.

23      Q.  Well, let's back that up.

24      A.  Kent Lina signed it.

25      Q.  I should say his firm, Graves & Company
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1 consultations?

2      A.  Potentially.

3      Q.  Potentially?

4      A.  Well, probably.

5      Q.  Do you recall?

6      A.  Specific conversations?  No, sir.

7      Q.  All right.  As -- in your capacity as a

8 responsible party, who at Gray Reed provided services

9 for you since your employment?

10               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, form.

11      A.  The attorneys?

12      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Yes, the names.

13      A.  Jason Brookner, Amber Carson, Lydia Webb, Jim

14 Ormiston -- James.  Sorry.  Beyond that, I don't know.

15      Q.  Okay.  What did you ask them to do?

16      A.  Provide legal counsel and interpretation.

17      Q.  Specifically?

18               MR. ORMISTON:  Object.  Calls for

19 attorney-client privilege.  Instruct the witness not to

20 answer.

21      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Are you refusing to answer

22 the question as to what type of services they performed

23 for you in your capacity as responsible party?

24               MR. ORMISTON:  No.  She answered that

25 question.  Then you asked her specifically, and I
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1 objected on the basis of the privilege.

2      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Are you refusing to answer

3 the question as to the specific services Gray Reed

4 provided you?

5      A.  I am.

6      Q.  You will not waive the attorney-client

7 privilege?

8      A.  I will not.

9               MR. WEISBART:  Will you please certify the

10 question.

11      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Did you ask Gray Reed to

12 provide specific services in connection with your

13 representation?

14               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, calls for the

15 disclosure of attorney-client privilege communications,

16 and instruct the witness not to answer.

17      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Are you -- will you agree to

18 waive the yes or no answer to that question?

19      A.  I will not waive -- I will not waive

20 attorney-client privilege.

21               MR. WEISBART:  Will you please certify the

22 question.

23      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Did Gray Reed have the

24 leeway to perform services as they deemed appropriate or

25 did they have to get instruction from you?
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1      A.  (Moving head up and down.)

2      Q.  Okay.  Do you understand that there were

3 derivative claims asserted against the defendant, PDC,

4 in the lawsuit?

5      A.  I do.

6      Q.  Okay.  And what is your understanding of the

7 term "derivative claims"?

8               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection to the extent it

9 calls to a legal conclusion.

10      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  As a layperson.

11               MR. ORMISTON:  You can give him your

12 understanding.

13      A.  A derivative claim is not directly related to a

14 person or a thing.  It derives from a circumstance

15 that -- for the entire group or company, and in this

16 case, the company.

17      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  You mean the partnership?

18      A.  Right, the partnerships.

19      Q.  The partnerships.  All right.

20                And you understand that there were

21 individual claims asserted in the lawsuit?

22               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, to the extent it

23 calls for a legal conclusion.

24               You can give him your understanding if you

25 have one.
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1      A.  My understanding is these are derivative.  The

2 claims asserted are derivative.

3      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  That all the claims are

4 derivative?

5      A.  Yes.

6      Q.  What is your understanding of the facts

7 supporting the derivative claims?

8               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, to the extent it

9 calls for a legal conclusion and for marshaling all of

10 the evidence in a very complicated case.

11      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  From reading the lawsuit.

12      A.  I'm sorry.  Could you --

13      Q.  From reading the lawsuit --

14      A.  Could you please repeat the question.

15      Q.  I will.

16               From reading the lawsuit, what is your

17 understanding of the facts supporting the derivative

18 claims?

19               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, form.

20      A.  The individuals assert that they didn't get

21 certain things that -- the partnerships didn't get

22 certain things that they should have or that they were

23 promised.

24      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  What are those things?

25      A.  Refracking, participation in horizontal wells,
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1 and the spacing units, generally.

2      Q.  Aside from reading the lawsuits -- the lawsuit,

3 did you review any other documents in connection with

4 the -- in connection with the suits, did you -- prior to

5 the filing of the bankruptcy case?

6               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, form.

7      A.  No.

8      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Did you personally go behind

9 the complaint to evaluate the claims?

10      A.  No.

11      Q.  Did you employ Gray Reed to evaluate the

12 lawsuit?

13      A.  I'm sorry.  Please say that again.

14      Q.  Did you -- was one of the reasons for the

15 employment of Gray Reed as your attorney to evaluate the

16 lawsuit?

17      A.  Gray Reed's my attorney for all things related

18 to these partnerships.  So yes, they evaluated the

19 lawsuit.

20      Q.  To your knowledge, does Gray Reed have any

21 special expertise as it relates to class-action

22 lawsuits?

23      A.  I don't know.

24               MR. ORMISTON:  Yes, is the answer.

25               THE WITNESS:  Okay.
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1      A.  Not a lawyer.

2      Q.  So Gray Reed assisted in that determination; is

3 that correct?

4      A.  Yes.

5      Q.  And in fact, they would have made the

6 determination, correct?

7               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, form.

8      A.  Yes.

9      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Do you know what Gray Reed

10 did to make that determination?

11      A.  I do not.

12      Q.  Did they provide you a written analysis?

13      A.  No.

14      Q.  Did someone explain the basis for making the

15 determination?

16               MR. ORMISTON:  You're talking about

17 separate and apart from the motion that's been filed in

18 this case?

19               MR. WEISBART:  Yes.

20      A.  I'm sorry?

21               MR. BROOKNER:  I'm going to object in lieu

22 of Jim.  That's subject to attorney-client privilege.

23               And I'm going to direct you not to answer

24 anything that you talked about with your lawyers is not

25 fair game.
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1               MR. ORMISTON:  Well, and that's really not

2 the question.  But there is a pending motion in this

3 proceeding to have those claims determined to be

4 derivative and therefore, owned by the estate.  And so

5 Ms. Nicolaou obviously has knowledge of that motion, and

6 that's going to be determined by the Judge at some

7 point.

8      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Okay.  My question is:  Did

9 someone explain the basis for making the determination

10 that all the claims are assertedly derivative claims to

11 you?

12               MR. ORMISTON:  And I'm going to object to

13 the extent it calls for the disclosure of

14 attorney-client communications.

15               You can ask her if she's read the motion

16 that's on file, but I'm going to object to any

17 communications with her and her lawyers explaining to

18 her anything.

19      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  My question is very simple.

20 I'll ask it again for the third time.

21               Did someone at Gray Reed explain the basis

22 for making a determination that all of the claims are

23 derivative claims?

24               MR. ORMISTON:  I'm going to object to that

25 question as calling for attorney-client communications
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1 and instruct the witness not to answer.

2      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Are you refusing to answer

3 the question?

4      A.  Yes.

5      Q.  Will you waive the attorney-client privilege?

6      A.  I will not.

7               MR. WEISBART:  Please certify the question.

8      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  When were you advised that

9 all of the claims were derivative claims?

10               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, form.

11               MR. BROOKNER:  Object.

12               MR. ORMISTON:  It just mischaracterizes her

13 testimony.  She wasn't advised.  She made a

14 determination herself.  She's already established that.

15               MR. BROOKNER:  To the extent she was

16 advised, when she was advised is subject to the

17 attorney-client privilege.

18      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Maybe I misunderstood.  Let

19 me go back.

20               MR. FOLEY:  Before you do, I take it

21 there's a rule in Texas that two attorneys --

22               MR. ORMISTON:  No.

23               MR. FOLEY:  -- representing the same client

24 can make objections and direct witnesses, and that's the

25 way we're going to conduct ourself in this proceeding?
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1      A.  I'm sorry?

2      Q.  You understand that one of the issues in the

3 Denver litigation is whether the partnerships were

4 entitled to assignments of spacing units or prospects

5 surrounding the wellbores drilled by the partnerships?

6      A.  That's one of the assertions, yes.

7      Q.  At the time the bankruptcy case was filed, did

8 you have an opinion related to that issue?

9      A.  No.

10      Q.  Do you have an opinion now?

11      A.  No.

12      Q.  Did you personally evaluate this issue?

13      A.  No.

14      Q.  Have you consulted -- without telling me the

15 substance of your consultation, but did you consult with

16 Gray Reed concerning this issue?

17      A.  Yes.

18      Q.  Again, without telling me the substance of any

19 work they did, do you know if Gray Reed evaluated the

20 decision?

21      A.  Yes.

22      Q.  Do you know what they did?

23      A.  No.

24      Q.  How do you know they evaluated the issue?

25               MR. ORMISTON:  Don't talk about what we

Case 18-33513-sgj11 Doc 172 Filed 05/24/19    Entered 05/24/19 16:40:24    Page 69 of 111



Page 129

1 told you.

2               Let me do it this way:  Object to the form

3 of the question to the extent it calls for the

4 disclosure of attorney-client communications.

5               If you can answer the question without

6 disclosing attorney-client communications, you may do

7 so.

8      A.  We discussed the question.

9      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  When, before the bankruptcy

10 was filed?

11      A.  No.

12      Q.  After the bankruptcy was filed?

13      A.  Yes.

14      Q.  All right.  In the debtor's response to the

15 motion to dismiss Mr. Brookner's, in his pleading,

16 states that the governing documents are ambiguous as to

17 whether PDC was required to assign wellbores in

18 corresponding spacing units.

19                Do you agree with that statement?

20      A.  Please repeat it.

21      Q.  Okay.  In the response to the motion to dismiss

22 debtor's counsel -- I assume it's Mr. Brookner -- states

23 that the governing documents are ambiguous as to whether

24 PDC was required to assign wellbores and corresponding

25 spacing units.  Do you agree with that?
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1      A.  Yes.

2      Q.  Do you know what governing documents he is

3 talking about?

4      A.  I believe the partnership agreement.

5      Q.  Is there a particular provision you would look

6 to in the partnership agreement to make that

7 determination?

8      A.  Yes.

9      Q.  Do you know what that provision is?

10      A.  I can find it.

11      Q.  Did you determine if the partnerships or

12 limited partners individually have a claim against PDC

13 for breach of contract arising out of the failure to

14 assign spacing units?

15      A.  I'm sorry?

16      Q.  I'll repeat it.

17               Did you determine if the partnerships or

18 limited partners individually have a claim against PDC

19 for breach of contract arising out of the failure to

20 assign spacing units?

21               MR. ORMISTON:  Object to the form of the

22 question to the extent it calls for a legal conclusion.

23      A.  No.

24      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  You understand that there

25 was a motion to dismiss the Denver litigation filed by
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1 agreement on the partnerships drilling additional wells?

2               MR. ORMISTON:  Same objection.

3      A.  As I sit here, I can't point to it.

4                (Discussion off the record.)

5      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  All right.  You go on to

6 say, "The limited partnership agreements do not provide

7 a mechanism for PDC to make capital calls to drill

8 additional wells, which could reach into the millions of

9 the dollars -- into millions of dollars."

10               Do you see that?

11      A.  I'm sorry.  Which paragraph?

12      Q.  It's the same paragraph, 21, last sentence.

13 "In addition, limited partnership agreements do not

14 provide a mechanism for PDC to make capital calls to

15 fund the drilling of additional wells, which could reach

16 into the millions of dollars."

17      A.  Yes.

18      Q.  Is that a conclusion that you reached?

19      A.  Yes.

20      Q.  And how did you reach that decision?

21      A.  Reading the partnership agreement, the private

22 placement memorandum, and consultation with my

23 attorneys.

24      Q.  And did you rely on the advice of counsel?

25               MR. ORMISTON:  Object to the extent it
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1 calls for attorney-client privilege communications, and

2 instruct the witness not to answer.

3      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Do you waive the privilege?

4      A.  No, sir.

5               MR. WEISBART:  Would you please certify the

6 question.

7      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Did you rely on the advice

8 of counsel in connection with any of the comments you

9 made in your declaration concerning the litigation?

10               MR. ORMISTON:  Object to the form as being

11 way overly broad, and also object to the extent it calls

12 for attorney-client privilege communications.

13               Instruct the witness not to answer.

14      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Do you refuse to answer?

15      A.  I do.

16               MR. WEISBART:  Please certify the question.

17      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Did you ever consider hiring

18 special counsel to prosecute the lawsuit?

19      A.  Yes.

20      Q.  And what did you do in connection with

21 considering making this consideration?

22      A.  Haven't done anything yet.

23      Q.  Did you consider hiring special counsel before

24 the bankruptcy case was filed?

25      A.  No.
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1               MR. ORMISTON:  Just yes or no.

2      A.  Please restate.

3      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Did you interface with Gray

4 Reed in conjunction with their evaluation of the Denver

5 lawsuit?

6      A.  Yes.

7      Q.  When did you -- when did you do that?

8      A.  Periodically.

9      Q.  Prior to the bankruptcy filing?

10      A.  Please ask the question again, the first

11 question.

12      Q.  Did you have discussions or did you engage with

13 Gray Reed in conjunction with their evaluation of the

14 lawsuit prior to the bankruptcy case being filed?

15      A.  We had conversations about the case.

16      Q.  Were you present when they performed services

17 in connection with their evaluation of the lawsuit?

18               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, form.

19               I don't understand the question, do you?

20      A.  I --

21      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Were you present at Gray

22 Reed's offices when they did the work associated with

23 evaluating the lawsuit?

24      A.  I don't know.  I don't know.

25      Q.  So you don't know what work they did
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1 personally?

2      A.  I don't know when it was done.

3      Q.  Okay.  But not only when it was done, but what

4 specifically they did?

5               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, to the extent it

6 would call for you to divulge attorney-client

7 communications.

8               If you can answer that question about what

9 your lawyers did without divulging that information, you

10 may do so.

11      A.  I don't think I can do that.

12               MR. ORMISTON:  Okay.

13      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Are you refusing to answer

14 the question based on attorney-client privilege?

15      A.  I am.

16               MR. WEISBART:  Would you please certify the

17 question.

18      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Did you participate in any

19 face-to-face meetings with Gray Reed attorneys involving

20 an evaluation of the lawsuit before the bankruptcy cases

21 were filed?

22               MR. ORMISTON:  Face to -- I'm sorry.  Say

23 that again, please.

24      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Did you participate in any

25 face-to-face meetings with Gray Reed attorneys involving
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1 an evaluation of the Denver lawsuit before the

2 bankruptcy cases were filed?

3               MR. ORMISTON:  Just yes or no.

4      A.  Did I participate -- it's running back.  Please

5 re- --

6      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Okay.  Did you participate

7 in any face-to-face meetings involving an evaluation of

8 the lawsuit -- and again, the Denver lawsuit, before the

9 bankruptcy cases were filed?

10               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, asked and

11 answered.

12               Didn't you just answer that question?

13               THE WITNESS:  I didn't answer it, no.

14               MR. ORMISTON:  Okay.

15      A.  We had many face-to-face meetings.

16      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Okay.  Would those meetings

17 be reflected, then, on your billing statements?

18      A.  I don't -- I'm a very bad biller.

19               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection.

20      A.  Sorry.

21      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  I take that to mean not

22 every meeting or every service you perform is put on

23 your billing statements?

24      A.  That would be correct.

25               MR. ORMISTON:  Let's take a break.

Case 18-33513-sgj11 Doc 172 Filed 05/24/19    Entered 05/24/19 16:40:24    Page 76 of 111



Page 146

1 things like that?

2      A.  I do not know.

3      Q.  All right.  And the one -- the gross figure,

4 for example, 1,879,000 for the 2007 partnerships, does

5 that -- that's just the total cost, right, of the

6 50,000, as you said, times the number of wells left in

7 the partnership?

8      A.  Yes.

9      Q.  But it doesn't account for any revenues that

10 might be generated by producing wells to offset that

11 cost, does it?

12      A.  I...

13               MR. ORMISTON:  Revenues above operating

14 expenses or just straight revenues?

15               MR. WEISBART:  Revenues above operating

16 expenses.

17               MR. ORMISTON:  Net revenues above operating

18 expenses?

19               MR. WEISBART:  Correct.

20      A.  As of December 31st, 2017, the partnerships are

21 not generating liquidity.

22      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  So as of --

23      A.  So this -- so by that, there wouldn't be any

24 net.

25      Q.  So you determined as of the time the bankruptcy
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1 was filed, that the 2007 partnership, the proved

2 producing wells were not generating any net revenues

3 above operating expenses?

4      A.  At 2017 -- December 31st, 2017, the

5 partnerships were not generating, just net operating

6 income, they weren't making distributions.

7      Q.  I'm talking about as of the bankruptcy filing

8 and not October 30th, 2018.  Was there positive cash

9 flow being generated by 2007?

10      A.  Perhaps a little.

11      Q.  In fact, there were some distributions out of

12 the partnership accounts to cover some costs; is that

13 correct?

14      A.  Correct.

15      Q.  Is there any -- as we speak today, has the 2011

16 partnership generated positive cash flow?

17      A.  I don't know.

18      Q.  Who would know?

19      A.  Would be reflected in the monthly operating

20 report.

21      Q.  Which you signed, right?

22      A.  Yes.

23      Q.  Okay.  But does that information come from PDC?

24 I assume it does.

25      A.  Yes.
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1      Q.  Okay.  Did you determine if the plugging

2 liability -- whether a plugging liability is a tangible

3 drilling cost or an intangible drilling cost?

4      A.  No.

5      Q.  Do you know as an accountant whether -- how

6 plugging costs are booked?

7      A.  No.

8      Q.  Who would you consult to figure that out?

9      A.  Mr. Stump.

10      Q.  Okay.  And the plugging costs are controlled by

11 PDC; is that correct?

12               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, form.

13      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  PDC is the operator of the

14 wells; is that correct?

15      A.  Yes.

16      Q.  So they control which wells are plugged and

17 when they're plugged; is that correct?

18      A.  They make the suggestion.

19      Q.  As to which wells are plugged, and then you

20 approve it, right, or disapprove it?

21      A.  Yes.

22      Q.  Did you have any consultation with anyone at

23 Gray Reed relating to the cost or obligation of the

24 partnerships to pay plugging costs without disclosing

25 attorney-client privilege?
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1      A.  Could you repeat that, please.

2      Q.  Yeah.

3               Did you have any conversations at Gray Reed

4 related to the cost or obligation of the partnerships to

5 pay plugging costs?

6      A.  Yes.

7      Q.  The plugging liabilities -- the future

8 liabilities was one of the principal reasons for filing

9 the bankruptcy case, was it not?

10      A.  Yes.

11      Q.  And did you determine that these costs are

12 obligations of the partnerships?

13      A.  Yes.

14      Q.  And how did you go about making that

15 determination?

16      A.  I'm sorry?

17      Q.  How did you go about making that determination?

18      A.  In consultation with Darwin Stump at PDC and my

19 attorneys, and just review of -- I don't want to

20 put -- what's available on the web in terms of

21 regulations, et cetera.

22      Q.  Uh-huh.  Would you refer back to the

23 partnership agreement, maybe the 2007 one?

24      A.  2007, Exhibit 4?

25      Q.  I think that's right.
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1      Q.  All right.  I'll read it again.  "Drilling and

2 completion costs shall mean all costs excluding

3 operating costs of drilling, completing, testing,

4 equipping, and bringing a well into production or

5 plugging and abandoning it."

6               And it goes on.  And I won't read the whole

7 paragraph, but do you see that?

8      A.  I see that.

9      Q.  Okay.

10               MR. ORMISTON:  Are you saying that --

11 well --

12               MR. WEISBART:  I'm asking questions, sir.

13               MR. ORMISTON:  All you're asking her is if

14 she sees it.

15               MR. WEISBART:  Okay.  I have another

16 question.

17               MR. ORMISTON:  Okay.

18      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Based on these two sections,

19 would it be your opinion that PDC, as managing general

20 partner, had to pay the cost to plug and abandon the

21 partnership wells?

22               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, form, to the

23 extent it calls for a legal conclusion.

24               You can give him your understanding if you

25 have one.
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1      A.  Can I finish reading it?

2      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Sure.

3               MR. FOLEY:  State on the record that the

4 witness is consulting with her counsel.

5               MR. MORFEY:  Hold on one moment.

6               Madame court reporter, can you read back

7 the pending question, please.

8               (Requested portion was read.)

9               MR. MORFEY:  I'm going to object to that

10 question as misleading, based on the fact that the

11 definition that the witness has been pointed to, that

12 term is not included in the other section of the

13 agreement.

14               MR. ORMISTON:  And I join that objection,

15 which is more to the point than my prior objection.

16               MR. WEISBART:  I don't think she's answered

17 the question yet.

18      A.  Could somebody read --

19      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Go ahead and read back the

20 question.

21               (Requested portion was read.)

22               MR. MORFEY:  Same objection.

23               MR. ORMISTON:  Same objection.

24      A.  No.

25      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Did you make -- "no" is your
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1 opinion?

2      A.  No is my opinion.

3      Q.  And why is your opinion no?

4      A.  Well, paragraph -- well, first of all, looking

5 alphabetically, okay, there is no drilling cost

6 definition.  So paragraph -- Article 2, Paragraph B

7 relates to intangible drilling costs which is

8 capitalized, which makes me think that it should be

9 defined.  But I don't see that here either.

10           The end refers to drilling and completion

11 costs, which is not here.  And so from my perspective,

12 as I'm trying to just be a layperson, it's very -- I

13 can't adjudicate this.  I wouldn't know -- I

14 can't -- it's not clear to me that the plugging and

15 abandonment liability is theirs alone.

16      Q.  Would you say it's ambiguous?

17               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, to the extent it

18 calls for a legal conclusion.

19               You can give your understanding if you have

20 one.

21      A.  It is not clear.

22      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Okay.  Did you conduct an

23 analysis prior to the filing of the bankruptcy

24 case -- and when I say "you," I mean you or your

25 professionals, as to whether or not the
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1 partnerships -- excuse me.  Let me strike that and do it

2 again.  Strike that question.

3                Did you conduct an analysis prior to the

4 filing of the bankruptcy cases as to whether the

5 managing general partner is obligated to pay partnership

6 of the plugging and abandonment costs?

7      A.  My understanding, it's the partnership

8 liability.

9      Q.  My question is:  Did you conduct an analysis?

10      A.  Either me or my professionals?

11      Q.  Yes.

12      A.  Yes.

13      Q.  It's true, is it not, that PDC, as general

14 partner, has joint several liability for the debts and

15 obligations of the partnerships, correct?

16               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, to the extent it

17 calls for a legal conclusion.

18               You can give your understanding if you have

19 one.

20               MR. MORFEY:  Same objection.

21      A.  My understanding is general partners have

22 liability for the third party debts of a partnership in

23 general.

24      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  And would that include

25 plugging and abandonment costs?

Case 18-33513-sgj11 Doc 172 Filed 05/24/19    Entered 05/24/19 16:40:24    Page 84 of 111



Page 173

1      Q.  All right.  But this -- these figures were

2 based on -- strike that.

3                These amounts were in exchange for a

4 release; is that correct?

5      A.  Yes.

6      Q.  Okay.  Do they reflect the value of the release

7 in your opinion?

8      A.  They reflect a reasonable estimate of the value

9 of the release, yes.

10      Q.  Okay.  But you've told me the settlement

11 payment equates to $2,500 per acre?

12      A.  Yes.

13      Q.  And I'm assuming an acre refers to acres

14 associated with the partnership wells?

15               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, form.

16      A.  Acres in the partnership wells are hotly

17 disputed.

18      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Okay.  But it's based on an

19 acreage figure, correct?

20      A.  It is based on some number of acres over some

21 wells at 2,500.

22      Q.  Okay.  How does that jive with the value of a

23 litigation release?

24      A.  I don't understand the question.

25      Q.  How does a number based on acreage equate to
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1 the value of a release of claims?

2               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, form.

3      A.  It's just a way to -- it's a way to negotiate.

4 It's a way to value it.  It's the way PDC looks at it.

5      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  All right.  I'll take one

6 more stab at it.  The amount of 2,950,000 per limited

7 partners in RR06, that's the amount they're going to get

8 in exchange for a release of all claims against the

9 buyer; is that correct?

10      A.  Correct.

11      Q.  And so the release is a -- I refer to it as a

12 litigation release.  But it's a release of claims or

13 causes of action that could have been asserted against

14 that.

15               And my question is:  Did you do a valuation

16 of the claims and causes of action that are being

17 released by virtue of this payment?

18      A.  Yes.

19      Q.  What did you conclude the value of those claims

20 were?

21      A.  That -- what I concluded as part of this

22 analysis was that this was fair in the circumstances.

23      Q.  So you concluded that 2,950 -- excuse me,

24 $2,950,000 is the value of the litigation of all claims

25 that could have been asserted or are being asserted
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1 against buyer; is that correct?

2      A.  Yes.

3      Q.  So you did do a damage analysis, then?

4               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, form.

5      A.  To the ex- -- we analyzed the claims.  Damage

6 analysis is -- yes, to the extent that we were able to

7 determine that this is a reasonable settlement, yes, we

8 did an analysis.

9      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Who's "we"?

10      A.  We, in conjunction with Mr. Graves -- Graves

11 Consulting, myself, my attorneys -- myself and my

12 professionals.

13      Q.  Was the analysis in writing?

14      A.  No.

15      Q.  What was the analysis?

16      A.  Beg your pardon?

17      Q.  What is the analysis?

18               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, form.  Analysis

19 of what, litigation damages or a fair settlement?

20      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Well, let's do both.

21 Analysis of litigation damages, what was your analysis?

22               MR. ORMISTON:  Didn't do that.  She hadn't

23 testified she did that.

24      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Did you do an analysis of

25 litigation damages?
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1      A.  I did not.

2      Q.  Analysis to fair settlement, what was your

3 analysis there?

4      A.  We looked at the financial situation of the

5 partnerships as they've stood.  At this point in time,

6 we looked at previous settlements for similarly situated

7 properties, and a -- previously negotiated settlements

8 with PDC.

9      Q.  And how does previously negotiated settlements

10 with PDC impact your settlement here?

11      A.  It's just a data point.  You asked me what I

12 analyzed.  We looked at the condition of the assets, the

13 condition of the partnerships, the previous settlements

14 of property similarly situated, value of acreage in the

15 Wattenberg.

16      Q.  Since you're releasing claims and causes of

17 action, wouldn't you consider a litigation analysis to

18 be critical as part of your settlement?

19               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, form.

20      A.  Please repeat the question.

21      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Wouldn't you consider a

22 litigation analysis to be critical factor for you to

23 consider in connection with your settlement proposal to

24 PDC?

25               MR. ORMISTON:  Same objection.
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1 to prepare the bankruptcy filing at that time; is that

2 correct?

3      A.  Yes.

4      Q.  Okay.  And you asked Mr. Stump to provide

5 certain -- certain information that you would use to

6 file the case?

7      A.  I did.

8               (Exhibit 25 marked.)

9      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Let me hand you what's been

10 marked as Exhibit 25.  This is an e-mail from Mr. Stump

11 to you in response to an e-mail from you to him in

12 connection with getting information together; is that

13 correct?

14      A.  Yes.

15      Q.  And that would be in connection with the

16 bankruptcy filing?

17      A.  Yes.

18      Q.  And you're asking him on the second page

19 or -- nine categories of information or nine pieces of

20 information?

21      A.  Yes.

22      Q.  Okay.  And on Number 3, you put "Location of

23 principal address (the address of the bank where the

24 accounts are held)"?

25               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, form.
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1      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Is that what it says?

2               MR. ORMISTON:  Assets, not address.

3      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Okay.  I'll read -- you want

4 to read Paragraph 3, because I tend to -- I guess I

5 misread it.

6      A.  "Location of principal assets, (the

7 address -- the address of the bank where the accounts

8 are held.)"

9      Q.  Okay.  So were you asking him for the address

10 of the bank, that being the principal asset of the

11 partnerships?

12      A.  That's in addition to the address, the location

13 of the principal assets.

14      Q.  Oh, okay.  So you didn't think the bank

15 accounts were the principal assets?

16      A.  They're the -- they were the most valuable

17 assets at that point in time.

18      Q.  Really?  Is that your opinion?

19      A.  The claims are -- at that point -- at this

20 point in time, claims were subject to litigation risk,

21 timing risk, other, you know, aspects.  There were

22 aspects of the partnership agreements, as we've covered

23 here, that weren't -- that aren't clear -- weren't clear

24 to me at the time.  So with respect to assets that were

25 not contingent, not disputed and not unliquidated, the
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1 bank accounts were the biggest positives.

2      Q.  Okay.  You've said on several occasions already

3 today that you did not conduct a detailed litigation

4 analysis; is that correct?

5               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, form.

6      A.  I looked at -- I've looked at the claims from a

7 litigation perspective.  I have consulted with my

8 attorneys.

9      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Are you changing your

10 testimony?

11               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, form.

12      A.  No.

13      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Okay.  I'll just ask it one

14 more time, and we'll put it to bed.

15               Did you or did you not prepare a detailed

16 litigation analysis in connection with the Denver

17 litigation?

18      A.  I did not.

19      Q.  All right.  Did your lawyers prepare a detailed

20 litigation analysis in connection with the Denver

21 litigation?

22      A.  No.

23      Q.  Thank you.

24                Let me hand you what has been marked as

25 Exhibit 26.
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1      Q.  Again, negotiations went through your

2 attorneys?

3      A.  They did.

4      Q.  And this is based on 2000 per acre?

5      A.  According to the footnote.

6      Q.  Okay.  And was this acceptable to you?

7      A.  At the time, given the situation and the

8 totality of things we looked at, yes, it is acceptable

9 and reasonable.

10      Q.  Based on the same factors that you previously

11 mentioned in your testimony?

12      A.  Yes.

13      Q.  Whether any additional factors you considered,

14 that you haven't already mentioned today, associated

15 with your agreement to accept the drop in per acre

16 pricing?

17      A.  I don't understand your question.

18      Q.  The settlement is based on $2,000 per acre.

19      A.  Yes.

20      Q.  You had proposed $2,500 per acre.

21      A.  Yes.

22      Q.  Was there some new factor that came up in the

23 few days between your proposal and their counterproposal

24 which caused you to agree to the 2,000 per acre

25 proposal?
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1      A.  No.

2      Q.  Okay.  And, in fact, on your declaration, this

3 is the -- well, strike that.

4                In addition, there's a detailed analysis

5 prepared related to projective administrative reserves.

6 It's attached on the back of the document.

7      A.  Do you have a Bates number?

8      Q.  Yes, 2051, 2052, 2053.

9      A.  Okay.

10      Q.  Did your lawyers prepare this analysis?

11      A.  We worked on it together.

12      Q.  Okay.  And this essentially -- this is the

13 analysis that led to the $3 million administrative

14 reserve?

15      A.  Yes.

16      Q.  Okay.  Would you agree with me, it's an

17 extremely detailed analysis?

18      A.  Yes.

19      Q.  All right.  And your attorneys, in particular

20 Mr. Brookner and Ms. Webb, have a great deal experience

21 in bankruptcy cases, don't they?

22      A.  They do.

23      Q.  Okay.  What authority did you have to enter

24 into a settlement that settles the claims of individuals

25 against PDC?
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1               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, form, to the

2 extent it calls for a legal conclusion.

3               You can give him your understanding if you

4 have one.

5      A.  Please repeat the question.

6      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  What authority do you have

7 to enter into a settlement which settles the claims of

8 individuals against PDC?

9               MR. ORMISTON:  Same objection.  It's also

10 argumentative because she's not recording the settlement

11 of individual claims.

12      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Do you understand the

13 question?

14      A.  I do.

15      Q.  Okay.

16      A.  I represent the partnerships, not the

17 individuals.

18      Q.  But your settlement includes a release of the

19 individuals against PDC, the individual limited partners

20 of any claims they have, does it not?

21      A.  My settlement releases PDC from partnership

22 claims, as I understand it.

23      Q.  So you don't understand that the -- the term

24 sheet -- and feel free to look at it.  It's attached to

25 your declaration -- includes claims and causes of
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1 action, which any limited partner may have directly

2 against the partnerships?

3                It's the same provision that we've been

4 talking about.  It says "Releases."

5      A.  Please repeat the question.

6      Q.  What authority do you have as the responsible

7 party for the partnerships to sign a term sheet that

8 releases the individual claims of limited partners

9 against PDC?

10               MR. ORMISTON:  Same objections.

11      A.  These -- the limited partners' claims are

12 released if, and only if the limited partner doesn't opt

13 out of the release.  Opting out of the release will

14 result in a limited partner's prorated share of the

15 settlement being redistributed to partners who have not

16 opted out of the releases.

17      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  You're proposing a

18 settlement that releases the individual claims; is that

19 correct?

20               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, form.  There are

21 no individual claims.

22      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  You understand my question?

23      A.  I understand your question.

24      Q.  Okay.  What's your answer?

25               MR. ORMISTON:  Same objection.
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1      A.  The answer is these are derivative claims.

2 They belong to the estate.  They're estate claims.

3      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Which claims are derivative

4 claims, the claims in the Denver litigation?

5      A.  All of the claims.

6      Q.  If that's the case, why is there an opt

7 out -- an opt in provision?

8               MR. ORMISTON:  Object, to the extent it

9 calls for a legal conclusion.

10               You can give him your understanding if you

11 have one.

12      A.  I don't have an understanding of that.

13      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Did you conduct an

14 investigation to determine if there were any other

15 claims or causes of action against PDC, it's affiliates,

16 or related parties, which could be pursued by the

17 partnerships outside of the Denver litigation?

18               MR. ORMISTON:  Can I have that question

19 again, please.

20      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Did you conduct an

21 investigation to determine if there were any other

22 claims or causes of action against PDC, its affiliates

23 or related parties, which could be pursued by the

24 partnerships outside of the Denver litigation?

25      A.  No.
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1      Q.  Did you make inquiry with any lawyers or

2 professionals to determine if there were any such

3 claims?

4      A.  No.

5      Q.  Did you contact any of the law firms that

6 represented the partnerships over the past eight years

7 to determine if such claims exist?

8      A.  No.

9               (Mr. Foley exits deposition at 4:11 p.m.)

10               MR. ORMISTON:  Hold on.  Representative

11 partnerships?

12               MR. WEISBART:  Yes.

13               MR. ELDER:  Could you just --

14               MR. WEISBART:  I'll repeat the question.

15      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Did you contact any of the

16 law firms that represented the partnerships over the

17 past eight years to determine if such claims exist?

18               MR. ORMISTON:  Which partnerships, these

19 two?

20               MR. WEISBART:  The '07 and '08

21 partnerships -- or '06 and '07.

22               MR. ORMISTON:  Okay.

23      A.  No.

24      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Did you contact any

25 accounting firms that performed services for these
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1      A.  Yes.

2      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  What other options did you

3 consider?

4      A.  We considered -- we auctioned.  We considered

5 auctioning properties through the clearinghouse, and

6 there were other individuals who contacted us making

7 inquiries about the properties themselves.

8      Q.  Auctioning the properties outside of

9 bankruptcy?

10      A.  Inside of bankruptcy.  We did it through the

11 bankruptcy process.

12      Q.  Okay.

13      A.  I'm sorry.  Did I miss --

14      Q.  The -- aside from the proposed agreement with

15 PDC that we saw on the term sheet, which -- and filing

16 the bankruptcy case to seek approval of that settlement,

17 did you consider any other options to maximize the value

18 of the partnership's assets?

19               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, form.

20      A.  We put all of the interest up for sale in

21 public auction.

22      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Well, did you have any

23 conversations with anyone about alternatives to filing

24 bankruptcy?

25      A.  We -- no.
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1      Q.  One option would be not to file bankruptcy and

2 not to do the settlement, and to simply allow the

3 partnerships to continue to operate and plug and abandon

4 the wells and ultimately wind them down.  Is that an

5 option you considered?

6      A.  It's an option, but it's not a practical

7 option.

8      Q.  My question is:  Did you consider it?

9      A.  Yes.

10      Q.  You did?  Okay.

11               Any other options that you can think of,

12 aside the one I just laid out there?

13      A.  We -- we looked at the condition of the

14 properties.  We looked at what we could do potentially

15 as you said, let them play out.  We looked at

16 bankruptcy.

17      Q.  Okay.  Well, let's discuss the

18 let-them-play-out option.  And I believe you said that

19 wasn't practical?

20      A.  Correct.

21      Q.  Can you explain what you mean by that in a

22 little more detail?

23      A.  The partnerships, at the point in time we were

24 making the determination, were not flowing sufficient

25 cash to support their activities.  And PDC was -- and
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1 when I say "activities," I am including SCC reporting

2 requirements, auditing, analyses by Ryder Scott, you

3 know, the activities surrounding -- you know, and

4 reimbursement for employees, well services, all of those

5 kinds of things.

6               The partnerships were not producing enough

7 cash to cover their expenses as they came due, which

8 requires the general partner to continue to fund until

9 the end of time, if you will, until the last well is

10 plugged and abandoned.  PDC has fiduciary obligations

11 beyond its fiduciary obligations to the partnerships to

12 its board.

13               Its board has obligations to its investors

14 to continue -- to ask PDC to continue -- or any general

15 partner to continue to fund losses with no reasonable

16 expectation, you know, of a payback is not a practical

17 solution.

18               MR. WEISBART:  Can you read back that

19 answer please.

20               (Requested portion was read.)

21      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  And you mentioned, I think,

22 reimburse employees.  Is that a term?

23      A.  Accounting expenses.

24      Q.  Accounting expenses?

25      A.  (Moving head up and down.)
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1      Q.  To outside accountants?

2      A.  Outside accountants, and any direct accounting

3 services provided by the general partner.

4      Q.  Okay.  Did you run any projections on what

5 these costs would total outside of bankruptcy

6 time -- outside of bankruptcy up to the point of winding

7 up the partnerships?

8      A.  I have a back of the napkin -- we did a back of

9 the napkin estimate.  I don't have anything in writing

10 to corroborate it.

11      Q.  I thought I was going to get a napkin.  You

12 don't have a napkin?  You have nothing in writing?

13      A.  No.  You have $3 million or so in plugging and

14 abandonment liability; you have continuing SCC reporting

15 quarterly and annually; couple hundred thousand dollars

16 a year.  So you know, it's $5- or $6 million over time.

17      Q.  Well, how much time would it take to -- what

18 did you project the time it would take to wind up the

19 partnerships?

20               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, form.

21      A.  We didn't -- the question I answered before was

22 a practical solution and didn't include any legal items

23 for winding down the partnerships themselves.

24               It's -- until the -- I believe I said the

25 last well was plugged and abandoned.  I don't know what
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1 that time frame is, if it's five years or seven years,

2 depending on which partnership and which well.  There

3 would be additional costs associated -- associated with

4 the wind down and shutting down of the legal entity, the

5 partnership, which I don't have an estimate for.

6      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Did anyone evaluate those

7 costs for you?

8      A.  No.

9      Q.  Then how do you know there are costs associated

10 with that?

11      A.  I've done it before.  History -- my

12 professional history tells me that there are some costs

13 associated with that.

14      Q.  You've wound down a public partnership based on

15 West Virginia law before?

16      A.  I have wound down publicly traded entities,

17 yes -- I'm sorry.  No, I have not wound down a West

18 Virginia partnership.

19      Q.  Okay.  Did you consult with any West Virginia

20 attorneys about the wind-down process or any attorneys

21 at all, then?

22      A.  No.

23      Q.  All right.  As far as the -- well, let's just

24 talk about the '06 partnership.  There were roughly at

25 the time of filing the case, three wells that were
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1 producing and the rest were shut-in, is that correct?

2 Three to five, let's say?

3      A.  Okay.

4      Q.  A small number?

5      A.  A small number.

6      Q.  Okay.  And would you agree that the reason you

7 maintain a proved developed producing well is because

8 it's making money or at least making its

9 operating -- meeting its operating costs?

10      A.  Say that again, please.

11      Q.  It's a proved developed producing well because

12 it's producing oil and gas, correct?

13      A.  Yes.

14      Q.  And you -- the reason it's producing is because

15 it's making money for the most part; is that correct?

16               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, form.

17      A.  I believe you have to have a producing well to

18 hold a lease.

19      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Okay.  So the proved

20 developed producing wells were not making sufficient

21 cash to meet their operating expenses in the '06

22 partnership?

23      A.  That's correct.

24      Q.  And who told you that?

25      A.  We looked at the cash flow streams.
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1      A.  No.

2      Q.  Okay.  So do you know if they were being

3 operated profitably or not?

4      A.  My understanding is they were not being

5 operated profitably.

6      Q.  What is your understanding based upon?

7      A.  On the cash flows produced, and by Mr. Stump.

8      Q.  Okay.  And at the time of the -- so those three

9 wells were not being operated profitably.  Do you know

10 why they continued to operate those wells?

11      A.  No.

12      Q.  PDC could shut in those wells at any time,

13 could it not?  It's the operator.

14      A.  Yes.

15      Q.  Okay.  PDC could plug those wells any time it

16 wants --

17               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, form.

18      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  -- correct?

19               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, form, calls for

20 speculation.

21      A.  Subject -- PDC, as the operator, is subject to

22 good business practices.  So if you're asking me could

23 they at any time if they wanted to, the answer is no.

24      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  I don't understand your

25 answer.  But perhaps you didn't understand my question.
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1 from states where they're doing business.

2      Q.  As part of the plan -- proposed plan, PDC will

3 purchase all the oil and gas assets of the partnerships;

4 is that correct?

5      A.  Purchased assets?  "Purchased assets include

6 right, title, and interest in -- and to all their

7 properties.  'Their,' being the partnerships, including,

8 but not limited the oil and gas interest and oil and gas

9 contracts."

10               That's what they're purchasing.

11      Q.  All right.  So there won't be any oil and gas

12 interest left in the partnerships following

13 confirmation, assuming the proposed claim is confirmed;

14 is that correct?

15      A.  Correct.

16      Q.  Okay.  Is it your position -- again, not as a

17 lawyer, but as a -- as a proponent of the plan, that

18 you, as responsible party, don't have to provide the

19 limited partners with a right to vote on the sale of all

20 or substantially all of the partnership's assets to PDC?

21               MR. ORMISTON:  Object, to the extent it

22 calls for a legal conclusion.

23               You can give your understanding.

24      A.  Please restate the question.

25      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Sure.
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1               Is it your position -- again, not as a

2 lawyer, but as the plan proponent, that you, as

3 responsible party, don't have to provide the limited

4 partners with a right to vote on the sale of all or

5 substantially all of the partnership assets to PDC?

6               MR. ORMISTON:  Same objection.

7      A.  Can we go back to the partnership agreement,

8 please?

9      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Sure.

10      A.  Give me a minute please.

11               MR. ORMISTON:  Are you looking at '06 or

12 '07?

13               THE WITNESS:  I'm looking at '06.

14      A.  Okay.  Beginning on Page -- I'm looking at the

15 2007 limited partnership agreement, Page A-27.

16               "Certain restrictions on managing general

17 partners power and authority 6.03(b)(1).

18               "Without having received -- without first

19 having received prior consent of the holders' majority

20 of then outstanding units entitled to vote, one, the

21 general partner shall not sell" -- and I added general

22 partner -- "sell all or substantially all of the assets

23 of the partnership, except upon liquidation of the

24 partnership pursuant to Article 9 hereof, unless cash

25 funds of the partnership are insufficient to pay the
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1 obligations and other liabilities of the partnership."

2               So to answer your question, as the cash is

3 insufficient to pay the liabilities of the partnership

4 its cash funds of the partnership, not PDC, are

5 insufficient, then in this case, the general partner,

6 me, standing as the responsible party, does not have to

7 have a vote of the majority of the outstanding unit

8 holders.

9      Q.  The plan does not permit that a limited

10 partners to request distribution of proceeds from the

11 sale in kind; is that correct?

12      A.  That is correct.

13      Q.  And you would agree, would you not, that

14 as -- and your giving your opinion as a layperson.  As

15 responsible party, are you subject to Section 6.03 of

16 the partnership agreements in operating the

17 partnerships?

18               MR. ORMISTON:  Objection, calls for a legal

19 conclusion.

20               You can give your understanding if you have

21 one.

22      A.  Please repeat the question.

23      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  Sure.

24                As a lay party and as a responsible

25 party, are you subject to Section 6.03 in operating the
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1 partnerships?

2               MR. ORMISTON:  Same objection.

3      Q.  (BY MR. WEISBART)  It's the provision you

4 just -- section you just read.

5      A.  Yes, I believe I'm following that section.

6      Q.  Okay.  Both before and after the bankruptcy

7 filing?

8      A.  Yes.

9      Q.  All right.  Then I'll refer you to Section

10 7.08.  I'll let you read that.

11      A.  Okay.

12      Q.  Have you had a chance to read it?

13      A.  Yes.

14      Q.  And, again, that's Section 7.08.

15               As a layperson, are you as responsible

16 party comply with Section 7.08?

17               MR. ORMISTON:  Object to the form of the

18 question to the extent it calls for a legal conclusion.

19               MR. WEISBART:  And I'm not asking for a

20 legal conclusion.

21               MR. ORMISTON:  I understand.  I'm just

22 protecting the record.

23               You can give whatever non-legal response to

24 that.

25      A.  It's an outline of voting rights.  I don't know
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1            IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
           FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

2                      DALLAS DIVISION

3 IN RE:                       )
                             ) CASE NO. 18-33513

4 ROCKIES REGION 2006          ) CHAPTER 11
LIMITED PARTNERSHIP and      )

5 ROCKIES REGION 2007          )
LIMITED PARTNERSHIP          ) (Jointly Administered)

6                              )
               DEBTORS       )

7

8

9                 REPORTER'S CERTIFICATION
              DEPOSITION OF KAREN NICOLAOU

10                        MAY 7, 2019

11

12      I, Mercedes Arellano, Certified Shorthand Reporter

13 in and for the State of Texas, hereby certify to the

14 following:

15      That the witness, KAREN NICOLAOU, was duly sworn by

16 the officer and that the transcript of the oral

17 deposition is a true record of the testimony given by

18 the witness;

19      That examination and signature of the witness to

20 the deposition transcript was waived by the witness and

21 agreement of the parties at the time of the deposition;

22      That the original deposition was delivered to

23 Mr. Mark A. Weisbart;

24      That the amount of time used by each party at the

25 deposition is as follows:
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1      Mr. Mark Weisbart  06 HOURS:08 MINUTES

2

3      That $__________ is the deposition officer's

4 charges to the Party for preparing the original

5 deposition transcript and any copies of exhibits;

6      That pursuant to information given to the

7 deposition officer at the time said testimony was taken,

8 the following includes all parties of record:

9
     Mr. Mark A. Weisbart, Mr. James S. Brouner, and Mr.

10 Thomas G. Foley, Attorneys for The Dufresne Family
Trust, The Schulein Family Trust, The Michael A. Gaffey

11 and Joanne M. Gaffey Living Trust, March 2000, and The
Glickman Family Trust dated August 29, 1994, The William

12 J. and Judith A. McDonald Living Trust dated April 16,
1991

13
     Mr. James Ormiston and Mr. Jason Brookner,

14 Attorneys for Debtors

15      Mr. Michael D. Morfey, Ms. Robin Russell, and Mr.
Charles E. Elder, Attorneys for PDC Energy

16

17      That a copy of this certificate was served on all

18 parties shown herein on ____________________ and filed

19 with the Clerk pursuant to Rule 203.3.

20

21      I further certify that I am neither counsel for,

22 related to, nor employed by any of the parties or

23 attorneys in the action in which this proceeding was

24 taken, and further that I am not financially or

25 otherwise interested in the outcome of the action.
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1      Certified to by me this ___ day of May, 2019.

2

3                   _________________________________
                  Mercedes Arellano, Texas CSR 8395

4                   Expiration Date:  December 31, 2018
                  Bradford Court Reporting, LLC

5                   BradfordReporting.com, Firm No. 38
                  7015 Mumford Street

6                   Dallas, Texas 75252
                  P: (972) 931-2799   F: (972) 931-1199

7

8
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